



FMH606 Master's Thesis 2023 Energy and Environment Technology

Techno-economic assessment of biomethane production from syngas derived from biomass gasifier

Milad Sahraro

Faculty of Technology, Natural sciences and Maritime Sciences Campus Porsgrunn



Course: FMH606 Master's Thesis, 2022

Title: Techno-economic assessment of biomethane production from syngas derived from biomass gasifier

Number of pages: 78 (66+Appendices)

Keywords: Techno-economic assessment, biomethane, anaerobic digestion, gasification, Aspen plus, CAPEX, OPEX

Student:	Milad Sahraro
Supervisor:	Nabin Aryal
Co-Supervisor:	Lars Erik Øi
External partner:	-



Summary:

Biomethane is one of the renewable fuels widely utilized for various purposes, including transportation, heating, and power production. Growing interest is currently seen in this biofuel production utilizing waste material such as agricultural residual, sludge and municipal solid waste in anaerobic digestion. However, there is a limitation in using entire organic biomass in anaerobic digestion due to lignocellulose mass and fibrous material, which is hard to digest by microbes. Thus, gasification could be a supplementary technology to utilize residual, digested, and contaminated waste. The coupling of gasification and anaerobic digestion has been tested in lab scale reactor to valorize the waste as biofuel. However, techno-economic evaluation is essential to upscale the technology. Thus, this master's thesis aimed to perform the techno-economic of coupling gasifier and anaerobic digestion to utilize syngas for biomethane production. Three potential scenarios were evaluated for their techno-economic viability. Scenario 1 is based on biomethane generation through syngas fermentation coupled with gasification. Combination of hydrothermal gasification, syngas fermentation, and a steam addition as a hydrogen source make up Scenario 2. In scenario 3, an electrolytic unit was added instead of steam (in scenario 2) as a hydrogen source to produce biomethane. The scenarios' efficiencies range from 13% to 35%. The maximum energy efficiency, 35%, was found in Scenario 3. Furthermore, scenario 1 (237 NOK per litre) was followed by scenario 2 (164 NOK per litre) and scenario 3 (120 NOK per litre) as the scenarios in which the minimum selling price of biomethane decreased. Due to its undiscounted net present value of 76 million NOK compared to the other scenarios, scenario 3 is the most profitable based on the discounted cash flow analysis results. According to sensitivity analysis, the cost of labour and utility had the most impact on the minimum selling price of biomethane.

Preface

This master thesis was written in the spring of 2023 as the final project to attain MSc. in Energy and Environment Technology at the University of South-Eastern Norway (USN).

A techno-economic evaluation of two stage (gasification-AD) biomethane production process has been performed. In addition, economic methane production rate scenario for up scaling the technology has been proposed.

The software utilized for calculations and simulations in this thesis is Excel and Aspen Plus.

I want to thank my supervisor Nabin Aryal and my co-supervisor, Lars Erik Øi. I am so grateful for all their help and input during this project. Having supervisors with such knowledge and interest in the subject was motivating.

Last but not least, I want to sincerely thank my wife for her encouragement and support this semester. Without her continuous assistance and support, I could not put out the necessary efforts. I'm grateful.

Lysaker, 12.05.2023 Milad Sahraro

Contents

Ρ	reface	4
С	ontents	5
Ν	omenclature	7
1	Introduction	10
2	Literature review	12
	2.1 Bio fuels	12
	2.1.1 Advantages of Biofuels	12
	2.1.2 Biomass conversion technologies	12
	2.1.3 Biomass types	12
	2.2 Biomass gasification process	13
	2.3 Gasification performance	15
	2.3.1 Gasifier types effect	15
	2.3.2 Temperature effect	
	2.3.3 Biomass particle size effect	17
	2.3.4 Gasification agent effect	18
	2.3.5 Bed Material Effect	20
	2.4 Anaerobic digestion process parameters	ZZ
	2.4.1 Temperature Effect	<i>22</i> دد
	2.4.2 Effect of C/N and C/P ratios	∠3 ??
	2.4.5 Effect of C/N and C/P fallos	ZJ 22
	2.4.4 Organic roading rate (OLR) effect	23 21
	2.4.6 Metallic ions effect	24 24
3	System overview	27
	3.1 System arrangement	27
	3.2 Process simulation	28
	3.2.1 Process description	29
	3.2.2 Composition of biomass	29
	3.2.3 Components	29
	3.2.4 Properties	30
	3.2.5 Stream properties	31
	3.2.6 Block properties	31
	3.2.7 Assumptions	
	3.3 Economic evaluation	32
	3.3.1 Equipment purchase cost	
	3.3.2 Capital Expenditure	
	3.3.3 Operation Expenditure	34
	3.3.4 Economic theories and concepts	35 20
	3.4 Jensiuvity analysis	აშ აი
	3.5 Efficiency calculation	
4		40
	4.1 Gasification process validation	40
	4.2 Economical assessment	41
	4.2.1 Equipment purchase cost	41
	A T T I porational and capital expenditures	<u></u>
	4.2.2 Operational and capital experior unites	۱ ۲

Contents

4.2.4 Sensitivity analysis	45
4.3 Efficiency calculation	
4.3.1 Energy and mass balance	
4.3.2 Plant efficiency	
5 Discussion	50
5.1 Process simulation	
5.1.1 Hydrogen yield	
5.1.2 Carbon dioxide yield	
5.1.3 Carbon monoxide yield	51
5.1.4 Methane vield	
5.2 Economical evaluation	
5.2.1 EPC results	
5.2.2 Operational and capital expenditure	
5.2.3 Discounted cash flow rate	
5.2.4 Sensitivity analysis	
5.2.5 Efficiency of plants	53
6 Conclusion and recommendation	
References	

Nomenclature

AD	Anaerobic digestion
BFB	Bubbling fluidized bed
BM	Bed material
BT	Bed temperature
BTA	Batch Reactor autoclave
BTR	Batch type Reactor
CAPEX	Capital expenditure
СВ	Catalyst to biomass ratios
CCE	Carbon conversion efficiency
CEPCI	Chemical engineering plant cost index
CFB	Continuous fluidized bed
CSTR	Continuous stirred tank reactor
DBEP	Discounted break even period
DC	Direct cost
DCFA	Discounted flow analysis
DCFRR	Discounted cash flow rate of return
EFB	Empty fruit bunch
EPC	Equipment purchase cost
ER	Equivalence ratio
EXP	Experimental
F	Feedstock
FCI	Fixed capital investment
FFA	For first agent
FIB	Fixed bed
FLB	Fluidized bed
FOC	Fixed operating cost
FR	Feed rate
FS	Feedstock size
FSA	For Second Agent
GA	Gasifying agent
GH	Gasifier height

GT	Gasifier types		
HRT	Hydraulic retention time		
ID	Gasifier internal diameter		
IGAD	Integrated gasification and anaerobic digestion		
INC	Indirect cost		
IRR	Internal rate of return		
IT	In total		
LCA	Life cycle assessment		
LCFA	Long chain fatty acids		
MPa	Mega Pascal		
MSP	Minimum selling price		
MSW	Municipal solid waste		
NA	Data were not available		
NOK	Norwegian krone		
NPV	Net price value		
NRR	Net rate of return		
OC	Optimum Conditions		
OLR	Organic loading rate		
OPEX	Operating expenditure		
OSW	Organic solid wastes		
PAH	poly aromatic hydrocarbons		
PBP	Payback period		
PEM	Polymer electrolyte membrane		
RHS	Right hand side		
RN	Reference Number		
SB	Steam to biomass ratio		
SIM	Simulation		
TAN	Total ammonia nitrogen		
TEA	Techno-economic analysis		
TG	Total gas		
USD	United states Dollar		
VFA	Volatile fatty acids		
VOC	Variable operating cost		

Nomenclature

WBM	With bed material
WC	Working capital
WOB	Without bed material

1 Introduction

The most common approach to use for determining the viability of a new idea or project is a techno-economic analysis (TEA). Typically, this calls for a process to be carried out at a large-scale facility, particularly when no prior knowledge about comparable industrial facilities is available.

Due to potentially renewable antecedents and environmentally friendly manufacturing methods, biofuels are a practical substitute for fossil fuels [1], [2]. Biomethane is a widely used biofuel[3]. It can be made through the fermentation of syngas with bacteria or through the fermentation of sugar with yeast [4]. Biodiesel, another type of biofuel used in the transportation industry, is made from a variety of feedstock, including both edible and inedible oils, algae, and lignocellulosic biomass [5]. It is created by transesterifying short-chain alcohols, catalysts, and vegetable and animal fats. Because transesterification produces a substantial amount of crude glycerol, it is undesirable from an economic and environmental aspect [6]. Biomethane, one of the principal gaseous biofuels, can replace natural gas in power and heat production. It can be created by the anaerobic breakdown of organic material whenever methanogenic bacteria are present [7]. The Sabatier reaction (Eq. 1), which can occur by chemical or biological synthesis, can also yield biomethane [8]. Methane is produced by biological metabolism, which recycles CO₂ through syngas fermentation [9], [10].

$$CO_2 + 4H_2 \xrightarrow{\text{yields}} CH_4 + 2H_2O \tag{1}$$

The current study suggests a novel conceptual framework that combines biomethanation, syngas fermentation, and hydrothermal gasification. The economic viability of the sequential biomass-to-gas and gas-to-liquid process was further assessed using a thorough techno-economic and sensitivity analysis.

The primary purpose of this master thesis is

1. To perform the techno-economic evaluation of a two-stage (gasification-AD) for biomethane production.

2. To propose the economic methane production rate scenario for up-scaling the technology

The main tasks are:

i) Designing of a process framework for biomethane production

ii) Establishing the mass and energy balances based on the designed framework,

iii) Total cost estimation based on the capital expenditure (CAPEX) and operating expense (OPEX) and

iv) Performing sensitivity analysis.

The complete task description is in Appendix A.

Chapter 2 includes a literature review of effective parameters on gasification and anaerobic digestion processes.

Chapter 3 provides an overview and methodologies which are dominant on simulation of different scenarios in Aspen Plus and TEA analysis.

Chapter 4 reports the results of simulation an economic evaluation of those scenarios.

Chapter 5 contains a discussion about the results in previous chapter.

Chapter 6 includes conclusion and suggestions.

2.1 Bio fuels

Recently, biomass consumption as a sustainable energy source has attracted considerable attention worldwide. According to McKendry [11], biomass consumption has been predicted to provide about 10-14% of the world's power demand. One of the significant advantages of biomass over fossil fuels such as oil, gas and coal is its steady feedstock supply [12]. In addition, fossil fuels have ambiguity in price and supply levels. Moreover, the broad use of fossil fuels has consequences such as green-house effect and results in climate change [13]. Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) analysis shows that biomass is not only a CO₂ neutral resource [14] but also has zero CO₂ net emission energy [15]. Compared with biomass, fossil fuel consumption causes extra irreversibility. It extracts the carbon locked underground and injects it as CO2 into the atmosphere. Meanwhile, forests (biomass sources) are sustainably managed [16].

2.1.1 Advantages of Biofuels

Considering the environmental effects, sulfur concentration is insignificant in biomass fuels which is responsible for generating ash. Sulfur is consequently generating considerably less air emissions in comparison with fossil fuels. So, burning biomass doesn't play role at sulfurdioxide emissions, which is cause of acid rain and the amount of ash which is produced is usable in farms as a soil additive [12]. Another noticeable point is that biomass consumption will reduce the amount of waste on the landfills. This waste has a considerable impact in disposal problems, especially in urban areas. The economic advantage of biomass usage as an energy source is that independence from fossil fuels increases, and economic pressures of importing petroleum products will significantly reduce [17].

2.1.2 Biomass conversion technologies

There are four methods for biomass conversion technologies. Direct combustion processes, biochemical processes, agrochemical processes and thermochemical processes [12].

The most dominant method for generating energy from biomass is direct combustion, in which the produced heat can be utilized for different proposes such as heating and generating electricity. Biochemical processes consist of AD and alcoholic fermentation. At the same time, an example of agrochemical process is the extraction operation which is fulfilled mechanically. Thermochemical process can be used for all sorts of biomasses, especially for low moisture, herbaceous and woody materials [17].

2.1.3 Biomass types

In general, biomass can be divided into five main categories. The first one is virgin forest wood which originates from the waste of forest products such as sawdust, wood chips, wood pallets, and palm kernel shells. The second group are energy crops, which yield high amounts of crops

grown specifically for energy applications. For example, Hybrid eucalyptus, and Napier grass, which are not suitable for agriculture, are categorized in this group.

The third group is agricultural residuals, such as bagasse from sugarcane and straw [18]. The fourth group is food residuals which consist of food and drink manufacturing residuals, animal fat, etc. The final group is residuals from industrial or municipal waste and manufacturing processes [19]. The first group is the main source which contributes (64%) of biomass and MSW is (24%) agricultural waste (5%) and landfill gases (5%) [17].

2.2 Biomass gasification process

Syngas is one of the important transitional gases in the chemical processes such as Fischer-Tropsch liquids, ammonia and methanol production [20]. It can be utilized as a source of pure hydrogen and CO [21]. Recently, hydrogen is the favorable energy source consumed in fuel cells and combustion engines [22]. Generally, syngas is produced in thermochemical processes from biomasses. These processes can be pyrolysis, gasification, and combustion or reforming processes. However, syngas can be produced in biological processes such as direct and indirect biophotolysis, biological water-gas shift reactions, photo-fermentation and darkfermentation [13].

Among thermochemical processes, gasification is the most efficient process to produce hydrogen out of biomasses. Although, the firs gasification plant was constructed in 2001 but, syngas and bio-mass gasification were both known since WW II [23]. Numerous kind of carbon-based feedstock can be used in gasification process. For example, industrial waste, biomass, petcock, petroleum, coal and natural gas are some of them [24]. As shown in Figure 2.1, coal, petroleum, natural gas, and petcocks have 51%, 25%, 22% and 1%, respectively. Number of plants which uses those feedstock are 53 and 56 plants for coal and petroleum, respectively [24].



Fig 2.1. Gasification operating capacity by feedstock in the world [12]

Biomass gasification can be described as a process in which carbonaceous material converts into a gaseous product or synthesis gas that dominantly includes H_2 , CO, CO₂, H_2O , CH₄, C₂+ (higher hydro-carbons), and N₂ [24].

Gasifying agents such as air, pure oxygen, steam, or mixture of these gases, is one of the necessities in the gasification process, which is conducted at high temperatures between 500 and 1400°c where the pressure range is between 1 to 33 bar [25]. Peres et al [13] state that gasification is suitable for biomasses with less than 35% moisture content. Otherwise, great amount of power loss will be expected in the process where as the moisture content in the feedstock is between 25% to 60%. Nooruddin [26] recommend to dry and preheat the bio-mass to reach the moisture content between 10% and 20% before being introduced to gasifier.

First stage for gasifying the biomass is devolatilization. During this process char and volatiles will be produced and then char will be gasified and volatiles and then it will be cracked and reformed. Adding steam in this step will increase the reforming reactions for volatiles and char gasification. As a result, light gases such as H₂, CO and CO₂ will be generated [27]. In this stage, produced gases can be utilized either for heating and electricity generation or for being further synthesized and stored as a fuel. On the other hand, this gas can be utilized as a raw material for high-value chemical productions like olefins and formaldehyde [28]. Gasification steps has been shown in Figure 2.2.



Fig 2.2. Process flow for gasification and its application [12]

There are some parameters which significantly affect the rate and composition of the produced gases. For example, type of gasification reactor, operating conditions, properties of input masses and output conditioning are the main ones. Where to inject the feedstock and fuel is a key factor in defining the type of gasification reactor. Pressure, temperature and residence time are related to operating conditions which control the reaction of gasification [29]. Gomez et al. [30] has investigated effect of utilization of different types of gasifiers, called entrained flow, fixed bed and fluidized bed.

Paula et al. [13] have studied the agents' effect in gasification like: air, oxygen, steam, CO₂, or mixture of these agents. They have also investigated operating conditions that consist of the temperature, pressure, catalyst and the equivalent which affect the amount of yields and composition of products.

Input masses are related to the raw materials' properties. (type and components) [31]. Output conditions of gas include cooling and disposal of specific matter and tar from produced gas [29].

2.3 Gasification performance

Within the gasification process, syngas generation is influenced by several parameters. In order to study and design the most efficient gasification system, factors such as types of gasifier and processing conditions (for example: temperature, gasification agents, size of biomass particles, and bed material type), should be investigated thoroughly.

2.3.1 Gasifier types effect

Gasifiers are categorized in various types. Fixed bed, moving bed and fluidized bed are the main groups of gasifiers. Gasifiers are divided into different types based on the flow direction and orientation of biomass and oxidant flow into the reactor and also the way that heat is transferred to vessel. The first group is fixed bed gasifier, this group can be divided into updraft and down drift gasifiers. In this category, biomass bed position is fixed and the combusted gases pass through it. In another case, bed can move along the reaction, or can move mechanically. The fixed bed updraft is also called counter current gasifier. This type of gasifier is the simplest and the oldest type, and also has cheapest concept among other gasifiers. In this type biomass is entered at head part of reactor and the gasification agent is introduced from the bottom. On the other hand, both the oxidant and the bio mass are entered from the head of reactor, but all the mechanical configurations are as same as the updraft gasifier [24]. The downdraft gasifier is also called co-current gasifier.

The second group (fluidized bed gasifiers) is divided into two common categories that are bubbling and circulating fluidized- bed gasifiers. In bubbling fluidized bed, commonly, there are fine and inert particles of sand and Aluminum.

In this type gasification agent is pumped in a way to pass from the inert particles. The speed of agent increased in a way to pass from the inert particles floated against its weight. At this gas velocity (minimum fluidization), channeling and bubbling of the gas happens. In this situation, particles remain in the reactor and appear to be in a "boiling state". On the other hand, in circulating one, operating gas velocity is higher than the minimum velocity. In this case, particles will be mixed with the gas stream and flow to top of gasifier and finally become separated by a cyclone, and then it enters the same cycle again [25].

Usually, the particles which are utilized in circulating type, are smaller than bubbling one [31]. Circulating one also had higher conversion rate and efficiency in comparison with bubbling one [32]. Among current commercial or near-commercial gasification technologies, directly heated bubbling fluidized bed (BFB) gasifiers are the most widely used one which operates in a broad span of temperatures, pressures and throughput [24].

Some investigations have studied advantages and disadvantage of fixed bed gasifiers in comparison with fluidized bed ones. Warnecke et al. [33], has carried out this comparison according to some aspects such as economic and environmental impact, use of material, energy consumption and the technology. They have stated that there were no significant advantage of each one compared to the other. Alauddin et al. [34]have shown that there are some drawbacks

for fixed bed gasifiers. They claimed that. There is a huge amount of tar and char production because there is a low and non-uniform heat and mass transfer between the gasifying medium and solid biomass inside the gasifier.

On the other hand, (FLB) gasifiers have high mixing and gas-solid contact, which improves the reaction and a conversion rate. In addition, a lower portion of tar in the product gas will be obtained when bed material play role as heat transfer medium and catalyst. As a result, in such a conditions, the quality of gas will be improved. These improved heat and mass transfer properties in FLB gasifiers will increase the throughput of gasifier for usage of various wastes with different compositions and thermal properties [34], [36].

2.3.2 Temperature effect

Temperature is one of the critical parameters in the gasification process. In addition, the temperature often regulates the thermal degradation process inside the reactor, thereby changing syngas composition. The lower temperature often supports to build of the tar and char fraction; thus, CO₂ composition is often high compared to CO, CH₄ and H₂. However, higher (around 800-1000) temperate thermal reactions stimulate tar cracking, and thermal reactions often provide more CO, CH₄ and H₂ gases compared to the CO₂ counterpart [35]. Therefore, a higher temperate greater than 1300°C could lead to low CH₄ composition. To support such argument, one of the studies from Mareno et al. [25] stated that when the operating temperature is greater than 1300°C, resulting the formation of higher hydrocarbons or tar, little to no methane, and a maximized generation of CO and H₂, was occurred. A similar observation was reported that there is an increase in total gas yield, and H₂ and CO composition during the temperature enhancement from 600 to 800°c,. However, they indicated that char and tar decreased during this temperature increase [37]. Mohammed et al. [15] also gasified the fluidized bed by empty fruit bunch (EFB) as biomass raw material and air as an agent in a temperature range between 700 and 1000°C. They indicated that during the enhancement of temperature from 700 to 1000°C concentration of CH₄ and H₂ increased from 5.84 to 14.72 and from 10.27 to 38.02 vol.%, respectively. They stated that during that process concentration of CO enhanced while the CO₂ concentration reduced.

In fluidized bed reactor, Lv et al. [38] investigated temperatures between 700 and 900°C. They utilized sawdust as raw material and showed that by increasing temperature in this range, higher amount of H₂ will be obtained and in contrary less CO₂, CO and CH₄ will be produced. They stated that the carbon conversion efficiency (CCE) also increased from 700 to 750°C. On the other hand, they indicated that when the temperature increases from 700 to 800°C, LHV decreases first, but finally it increases to its maximum value 8.56 MJ/Nm³. They stated that by going to higher temperatures, from 800 to 900°C, LHV value experiences lower amounts and finally reached to its minimum value at 900°C. In similar temperature range, (750-900°C). Li et al [39] investigated steam gasification of EFB in a fixed bed reactor. They declared that in higher temperatures hydrogen production enhanced until its maximum value at 900°C. They indicated that in this temperature enhancement process concentrations of H₂ and CO₂, increased while the concentration of CO and CH4 decreased, as well. According to them, LHV decreased continuously at this temperature enhancement process. In another research which is carried out by Womgsiriamnuay et al. [29] on a fluidized bed, bamboo was used as feedstock and air as an agent. Their results followed different behavior during the enhancement of temperature. They showed that the concentrations H₂ and CO decreased but concentration of CO₂, increased,

while the temperature increased from 400°C to 600°C. On the other hand maximum LHV value and CCE occurred at 500°c. Table 2.1 **Appendix B** summarizes studies which have investigated the effect of temperature on gasification of various biomasses. It can be inferred from these Investigations that higher amount of H_2 gas and lower concentrations of heavy tars and char will be obtained if the temperature increases. Skoulou et al. [40] stated that enhancement of H_2 production and decreasing tar concentration is due to tar thermal cracking reaction.

All the results can be justified by Le Chatelier's principle, when the temperature increases. Table 2.2 **Appendix B**, shows all the reactions which take place during the gasification. According to the principle, temperature enhancement will push the reaction in a way that endothermic reactions improve and exothermic reactions occur in opposite direction as showed in table 2.2 **Appendix B.** So, reactions such as R2 (boudouard), R3 (water-gas), and R8 (steammethane reforming) will improve. The result of improvement in R3 and R8 reactions is enhancement of H₂ production [39]. Increase in R8 reaction also increases the CO production and CH₄ consumption. As a result, CH₄ concentration will reduce [38]. It can be inferred from R2, R3, and R8 reactions that CO production will enhance if temperature increases [40]. In addition, exothermic reaction R1 (char partial combustion) affects CO production, negatively. When the temperature increases, the content of CO decreases. CCE enhancement is predictable while temperature increases. Because it pushes the R2 and R3 forward and more carbon and steam are converted [38]. To put it in nut shell, higher temperatures favors gas yield and H₂ production. On the other hand, temperature enhancement can't always increase the LHV as too high as it lowers the gas heating value [38].

2.3.3 Biomass particle size effect

The gasification process can be significantly impacted by the feedstock's particle size. In general, quicker gasification rates and better gas yields are caused by smaller particle sizes.

The surface area to volume ratio is larger when the feedstock particles are smaller. This indicates that there is a larger surface area accessible for the gasification agents—such as steam or oxygen—to react on. As a result, the reaction can go forward more quickly and produce more gas. However, utilizing lower particle sizes could have some negative effects as well. For instance, smaller particles may be more challenging to manage and more likely to clump together or agglomerate, which could lower gasification efficiency. However, bigger feedstock particle sizes might be the outcome.

Mohammed et al. [15] has investigated biomass particle sizes from 0.3 to 1.0 mm and stated that the particles in this range doesn't cause blockage in feeder. They have shown that tar and char yields, have been increased and total gas yield has been decreased by particle size enhancement. They also declared that smaller particles generate lower CO_2 and higher amounts of CO and CH₄ in comparison with larger particle size. Furthermore, H₂ production has been remained approximately the same in every particle sizes in this range and even smaller than 0.3 mm. According to them, the highest and optimized value for LHV were obtained when the particle size was between 0.3 and 0.5 mm.

Li et al. [39] investigated particles with size between 0.15 and 5mm. They reported that H_2 and total gas yield decreased by increasing the size of particles. They stated that more H_2 and CO_2 and less CH_4 and CO was produced while using smaller particles. In addition, they

reported that maximum value of LHV took place when the particle had its largest value. Lv et al. [38] investigated another research and stated that smaller particles cause higher amounts of CO and CH₄ production and less CO concentrations. The smallest particle size in this research resulted in maximum value of gas yield, LHV and, CCE amounts. Luo et al. [27] investigated particle sizes between 0.075 and 1.2 mm. They stated that H₂ production and CCE decreased and char and tar amount increased, when particle size of feedstock enhanced.

Yan et al. [42] utilized particle size between 0.15 and 3mm and reported different behaviors. They conducted the experiment at 850°C and stated various behavior during the particle size enhancement. They stated that when the particle size increased from 0.15 to 0.45 mm, gas yield increased but with further increase in particle size, it declined, slightly. The maximum value of gas yield occurred when the particle size was between 0.45 and 0.9 mm. They declared that particle size had no effect on the molar fraction of syngas. Table 2.3 **Appendix B** summarizes investigations according to the particle size and its effect on syngas production.

To cut a long story short, less char and tar, more H₂ production and higher gas yields are the results of using smaller parts. As larger particles causes more temperature gradients within the particles and particle surface, then, particle's surface experiences higher temperatures in comparison with its core. Therefore, char and liquid yields increase and gas yield decreases [15]. On the other hand, more surface area is available in smaller feedstock particle sizes. So, they can absorb heat rates, faster. In addition, this high heat absorption can produce higher concentrations of light gases and lower amounts of char and condensate.

Another advantage of smaller particles and apparently higher surface area is enhancement in contacts between biomass and steam which provides more reaction rates and adequate gasification reactions [39]. It has been stated in same investigations that particle size has the lowest impact factor among other parameters. But, it's necessary to indicate that more reaction time is required when particle sizes are larger However, this effect will have less significance when operation temperature is high.

2.3.4 Gasification agent effect

The gasification agent, which can be oxygen, air, steam, or a mixture of these, plays a crucial role in the gasification process. It affects the reaction kinetics, product composition, and gas yield. The choice of gasification agent depends on the desired product and the feedstock being used.

One of the most important effects of the gasification agent is to control the amount of oxygen available during the reaction. In gasification, the feedstock is partially oxidized to produce a synthesis gas, or syngas, which contains a mixture of carbon monoxide (CO) and hydrogen (H₂) as well as other gases such as methane (CH₄) and carbon dioxide (CO₂). The amount of oxygen present during gasification affects the composition of the syngas. If the gasification agent is pure oxygen, the syngas produced will have a higher CO concentration than if air or steam is used.

Another effect of the gasification agent is to influence the reaction rate. For example, steam can enhance the gasification rate because it reacts with the carbon to form CO and H_2 , which are the primary components of syngas. Air, on the other hand, can cause slower gasification rates because it dilutes the reaction with nitrogen and other inert gases.

The gasification agent also affects the operating temperature of the gasifier. In general, the higher the temperature, the more complete the gasification reaction, and the higher the gas yield. However, excessive temperatures can cause thermal cracking, which can produce undesired products such as tars and other complex hydrocarbons. The gasification agent can be used to control the operating temperature and minimize the formation of these byproducts.

Overall, the choice of gasification agent is an important consideration in gasification. Different agents can produce different gas compositions, affect the reaction rate and operating temperature, and influence the formation of byproducts. The choice of gasification agent depends on the specific feedstock and the desired product.

Recently, there have been various biogas gasification with different agents including steam, oxygen, air, or mixtures of these components. Table 4 summarizes some of these investigations.

Lv et al. [43] compared air and steam as agent in gasification process and stated that steam agent produces more H₂ than air as an agent. They used pine wood as feedstock within a down draft fixed bed gasifier. The hydrogen yield for air and steam as an agent were 0.33 and 0.49 m³, respectively. They reported concentration of H₂ and CO, 63.27 - 72.56% for biomass with oxygen/steam gasification, but these values for biomass/air gasification were 52.19 - 63.31%, respectively.

Wongsiriamnuay et al. [29] observed that the value of CCE and total gas yield is higher for air/steam agent in comparison with dry air. In addition, they reported that H₂ and CO concentrations in product gas were higher, also. Li et al. [39] observed that enhancement in the steam/biomass ratio (SB) from SB = 0 (dry air) to 1.33 resulted in maximum amount of H₂ and gas yields. By increasing SB to higher values (SB= 2.67), the H₂ and gas yield experienced decreasing behavior.

Chang et al. [44] observed the same trend when they investigated the α -cellulose effect on gasification at 800°C. They repeated the process of gasification for an equivalent ratio of 0.27 with various SBs from 0 to 1.5. From 0 to 1 SB values, results presented that H₂ production, enhanced from 13.5 vol% to 18.56 vol%. Further enhancement caused decrease in H₂ concentration which can be concluded that maximum value for H₂ and total gas belongs to SB value of one. They stated that the lowest value for LHV was occurred in SB value of 1.5.

Mohammed et al. [15] studied the equivalent ratio (ER) in gasification process by increasing ER From 0.15 to 0.35. This resulted in reductions of char from 13.65 to 2.12 wt% and tar amount, from 9.830 2.82 wt%. They also claimed that LHV of produced gas declined to 12.35 from 15.38 MJ/m³. They recorded maximum value for total gas production and H₂ concentration at ER of 0.35 and 0.25, respectively. They reported increase in CO₂ production and decline in CH₄ and CO generation. Skoulou et al. [40] investigated ER effect on gasification process and reported that by increase in ER value from 0.14 to 0.42, there was a decline in char and tar concentration. On the other hand, total amount of gas yield maximized at ER value of 0.21 and decreased when ER reached to 0.42. Both LHV and H₂ values, reached to their maximum and minimum values at ER value of 0.21 and 0.42, respectively. CH₄ and CO followed similar behavior when ER value increased. Those gases reduced as ER values increase in ER value, CO₂ amount experience redaction. This maximum production took place at ER value of 0.42.

Chang et al. [44] reported higher amounts of H_2 yields when steam was existed in agent gases. According to them, higher SB values concluded with higher values for total gas and H_2 yields. This SB ratio enhancement, favors steam consuming reactions (R3, R7 and R8), which contributed in enhancement of H_2 , CO₂ and total gas concentration increase [39]. In addition, CO and CH₄ concentration will decline [45]. Increasing steam in agent has its own disadvantage and one of them is that steam is absorbs energy from the system and has negative effect on energy production [45]. Introducing extra steam may result in reduction of the reaction temperature which will cause in low quality gas production, consequently [39].

According to above mentioned investigations, higher ERs result in lower amounts of char, tar, LHV, CO and more CO₂, concentrations. Skoulou et al. [46] noticed a contradictory behavior for ER increase in gasification processes.

When ER increases gas quality reduces. The reason is that by oxidation reaction which results in CO₂ production enhancement, and simultaneously, lower production of combustible gases. Too high ER values contributes in less H₂ concentrations (R6), and CO₂ concentration enhancement in produced gases (R5) [15]. All in all, high ER values lead to exothermic oxidation reactions which, simultaneously, introduce further heat for gasification, and will optimize the quality of product, partially [46]. However, in very small values of ER, temperature will be low and consequently won't be appropriate for reactions in gasification process [43]. In overall, ER value affects quality of produced gas in gasification process [43].

2.3.5 Bed Material Effect

The bed material in a gasifier plays an important role in the gasification process, affecting the gasification efficiency, product gas quality, and the lifetime of the gasifier.

The bed material provides a surface for the gasification reactions to occur and helps to maintain the required temperature inside the gasifier. It also acts as a filter for particulate matter and helps to promote the mixing of the gasification agents with the feedstock.

One important effect of the bed material is its ability to store and release heat. Some common bed materials, such as sand, can store heat and release it slowly over time, which helps to maintain the temperature inside the gasifier. Other materials, such as ceramic beads or coke, have low heat storage capacity and can allow for more rapid temperature changes. The choice of bed material depends on the gasification process requirements, such as temperature, residence time, and desired product.

The bed material also affects the gasification reactions by altering the gasification agent's composition. For example, in fluidized bed gasification, the bed material is typically an inert material such as sand or alumina, which does not react with the gasification agents. However, in some cases, the bed material may be a catalyst that promotes the gasification reaction and can increase the gas yield or improve the product gas quality.

The bed material can also impact the lifetime of the gasifier. Over time, the bed material can degrade due to mechanical wear, erosion, or chemical reactions with the feedstock or gasification agents. This can lead to the formation of ash or other undesirable byproducts, which can reduce gasifier efficiency and require more frequent maintenance.

Overall, the choice of bed material is an important consideration in gasification. Different materials can have significant effects on the gasification efficiency, product gas quality, and

the lifetime of the gasifier. The selection of the bed material depends on the gasification process requirements, such as temperature, residence time, and desired product.

Some investigations has studied effect of sorbent for absorbing the CO₂, during the gasification process. Mahishi and Goswami [48] investigated gasification process of pine bark for biomass molar ratio of 1 relative to CaO. This molar ratio was defined by thermodynamic calculations. First, they reported that at 600°c of gasification process and absence of sorbent, total gas yield, CO₂, and H₂ gas composition and CCE were 0.87 m3/kg, 27.7 vol%, 60 vol% and 20.3%, respectively. While these values in the presence of sorbent increased for total gas yield, H₂ and CCS to 1.92 m3/kg, 64.5 vol% and 65.6%, respectively and CO₂, concentration decreased to the 26.8 vol%. It can be inferred that CaO played the role as sorbent but also as catalyst. Hanaoka et al. [49] used the same sorbent for oak bark at 650°C with molar ratio of CaO to the carbon in the biomass ([Ca]/[C]) values 0, 1, 2, and 4. For the values 1, 2, and 4, no CO₂ observed at the products. They reported the maximum value for hydrogen yield at ([Ca]/[C] = 2) which were 0.8 m³/kg.

The greatest challenge during the gasification process is tar formation which is a compound of condensable hydrogen and is the mixture of one to five aromatic ring compound connected to other oxygen-containing hydrocarbons and complex poly aromatic hydrocarbons PAH [50]. Some researchers investigated the effect of catalyst particles on improving the H₂ yield due to tar decomposition [51]. Shen et al. [51] stated that sand is the most widely used bed particle with very favorable mechanical properties which is particularly used in bubbling and circulating fluidized bed applications. It should be noted that sand never engages in chemical reactions with biomass. Moreover, a Ni catalyst and, limestone can play role both as a mechanical activity and resistance [51]. Wu et al [52], investigated nickel based catalysts which are cheaper in comparison with other noble metal catalysts. They have reported that group of catalysts are the most effective and promising catalyst.

Valliyappan et al. [53] used glycerol in a FIB gasifier by using Ni/Al₂O₃ as catalyst. They reported that by increasing the catalyst amount from 0 to 0.8 wt%, H₂ concentration enhanced from 55.9 to 68.3 mol%. Wongsiriamunuay et al. [29] investigated gasification process with calcined dolomite as catalyst with various catalyst to biomass ratios (CB) of 0:1, 1:1, and 1.5:1. By temperature and CB enhancement they reported increase in H₂ and CO yields and in contrary decline in CH₄ and CO₂. In addition, they stated that LHV and CCE improved due to enhancement of H₂ and CO concentration. They stated for reforming reaction enhancement due to catalyst presence which reduced the amount of produced tar. Li et al. [39] studied tri-metallic catalyst and compared the gasification results for calcined dolomite with tri-metallic catalyst and without catalyst processes. Table 2.5 **Appendix B** summarizes those results in the presence and absence of catalysts in the gasification process.

These investigations show that presence of catalyst and CaO can reduce the tar formation and cause enhancement in total gas and H₂ production and CCE. It has been stated by all researchers that amount of CO_2 absorption is tightly a function of partial pressure of CO_2 in generated stream at a constant gasification temperature. When the gasification temperature exceeds the equilibrium temperature corresponding to the CO2 partial pressure, CO2 is absorbed, converting the sorbent to CaCO3 in the process.

However, when above mentioned temperature is lower than the gasification temperature, $CaCO_3$ is released to form the original CaO. CO shift reaction (R7) states that in the presence of CaO, reaction tends to move RHS of the reaction to produce more H₂. So, as stated earlier,

CaO plays either a sorbent role or a catalyst role [48]. As the tars and hydrocarbons are reformed in the presence of calcium oxide, additional hydrogen is produced, calcium oxide serves the dual duty of a sorbent and a catalyst [39]. Catalysts cause tar cracking and increase tar reforming reactions, which results in H₂ concentration enhancement.

In general, hydrogen-rich syngas is often beneficial to produce biomethane after coupling biological systems such as anaerobic digestion. Otherwise, additional hydrogen need to be injected inside the reactor for the complete conversion of CO and CO2 from syngas.

2.4 Anaerobic digestion process parameters

Anaerobic digestion utilizes organic waste as feedstock, such as municipal solid waste, residual waste from agriculture and forest for biogas production [54]. A mixture of anaerobic microbes degrades the organic material and produces biogas, a mixture of carbon dioxide, methane, hydrogen sulfide, ammonium, etc[54]. Not limited to organic waste, this technology can be used for methane production using gaseous products such as CO2, H2 and CO [55]. Recently biomethane production from syngas has been widely researched in lab-scale reactors [56]. The AD has been coupled with syngas derived from the gasifier to produce the natural gas grid-quality biomethane (>97% CH4) [35]. The natural gas quality biomethane (>97% CH4) production of biogas, such as transportation fuel and gas grid injection [57]. The recent research result reported that CO2 species dominate in syngas derived from the gasifier; therefore, additional hydrogen injection could benefit from converting entire CO2 ad CO into biomethane (>97% CH4) [35]. Thus, this thesis investigated the techno-economical analysis of the coupling of the gasifier and anaerobic digestion for biomethane production.

In this section, the most important parameters affecting the anaerobic digestion process will be discussed according to investigations carried out on these parameters. Parameters are temperature, PH, C/N/P ratio, organic loading rate, and organic toxicants [61].

2.4.1 Temperature Effect

Increase in temperature will result in microbial metabolism rise due to biogas production enhancement. For instance, biogas generation rate for food waste in thermophilic circumstances (40-65°c) is higher than mesophilic conditions (25-40°c) which is higher than psychrophilic circumstances (10-25°c). Meanwhile, practically, AD takes place at two last conditions and is the least probable to occur at mesophilic circumstances. Because, bacterial growth is limited in that temperature level [62]. Sun et al. [63] stated that the most appropriate temperature for psychrophilic methanogens is 15 °C. According to table 2.6, at 15°C for rice digestion, one need 26 days period and 15 days is the peak time (the highest bio gas production rate) which is achieved by Xiao et al. [64]. This temperature is 35°c for mesophilic conditions. According to Xiao et al. [64] peak time for biogas generation would be 3 days, which is shown in table 2.6. They reported this time 3 days for straw or food waste and 55°c was the suitable temperature in thermophilic conditions, according to Mao et al. [65]. AD process, not only in mesophilic but also in thermophilic conditions, is sensitive to temperature variations and should be kept around 3°C [66]. If temperature is not controlled in that temperature the biogas production will reduce and will be fully stopped around 5°C. According to Walter et al. [67] thermophilic methanogens can withstand temperature fluctuations within 5°C/h.

2.4.2 Effect of pH

Hydrolytic bacteria prefers neutral environment. Therefore, pH of environment should be neutral where hydrolysis of organic substrates will take place. So, pH should be maintained within a specific interval (5-7) to keep normal functionality of microorganisms [68]. Excessive acidic or alkaline conditions will reduce the hydrolytic efficiency of them. In addition, this pH range is also dominant for acidogenic microbes. For instance, Yang et al. [69] investigated the digestion of rice and meat wastes in production of acetate and ethanol. They reported 20-39% production enhancement of acetate by maintaining the pH in the 4.5-6 interval. These results has been depicted at table 2.6 [70].

Dareioti et al. [71] reported that for pH values over 5.5 or less than 9.5, production of propionate can be declined into 42.5%. Although acetogenesis can take place either in acidic or alkaline environments, acetogenesis microbes life can be threatened in extra acidic or alkaline pH values [72], [73]. For instance, acetogenesis bacteria can die at 5-8 pH values [61]. Lee et al. [74] reported that all acetogenic bacteria groups produced acetic acid during the digestion of corn and wheat, properly, when the pH value was maintained in a 5.8-6.8 interval. In addition, this values of pH is essential for methanogenesis bacteria. According to table 2.6, Bassani et al. [75] and Fu et al. [76] have stated that if pH value is less than 6.3 or more than 7.8, the methanogenesis rate will be declined to 56.9% and reported that those microorganisms aren't able to survive outside the 7-8 pH value range.

2.4.3 Effect of C/N and C/P ratios

The other parameter that can affect the AD performance is carbon-nitrogen-phosphorus ratio. Food wastes, manure, and plant residues are the main source of carbon [77]. Organic solid wastes (OSWs) which are mainly protein and urea are the primary sources of nitrogen [78]. Organic Orthophosphate-phosphorus (PO₄-P) and polyphosphates are the origination point of Phosphorus. Either P or N are vital and necessary not only for growth and synthesis of microbial cells but also for pH stabilization under the alkaline conditions [79].

When the C/N ratio is less than enough, the extra total ammonia nitrogen (TAN), harms the process of methanogenesis, because of three reasons: 1) It inactivates methanogenes enzymatic activities. 2) It disturbs proton equilibrium. 3) It causes lack of potassium ions (k⁺) in cells with extra TAN [61]. According to Huang et al. [80], biogas production efficiency will decline 65% when TAN value is 4 kg/m³. But, it will increase when TAN value increases from 0.05 to 0.4 kg/m³. Finally, they propose the 25-30 value of C/N ratio as the most optimized range for AD process. On the other hand, anaerobic bacteria needs external P sources because they are unable to synthesize organic P by themselves. Investigations have concluded that for carbon to phosphorus ratio (C/P) value of 157 the production efficiency of VFAs in acidogenesis process will be 17.5% [81]. As a result, researches have shown that the most suitable C/P ratio is 150 and C:N:P value for AD process is 200-300:5:1 [61]

2.4.4 Organic loading rate (OLR) effect

There are two ways for reaching higher QLRs. First, by reducing the hydraulic retention time (HRT). Second, by substrate concentration enhancement. Although, OLRs are normally in a range of 5-40 kg COD/ m^2 day, it can even reach to higher values in AD process [82]. As can

be inferred from table 2.6, biogas production efficiency can be increased by 43% while ORL enhances from 11.12 to 20.26 kg COD/m² day during AD process of sugar cane straw [83]. This efficiency even has increased to 57% by further enhancement of OLR into 24.4 kg COD/m² day. However, extra food for microorganisms will result in enhancement of pressure at AD process. The reason is that acid bacteria cannot digest all kinds of loaded materials and will concluded with an extra VFAs [84]. During the cow manure digestion, ORL has been increased from 18.44 to 37.9 kg COD/m² day which resulted in biogas production efficiency reduction by 39% [85]. Baek et al. [86] reported that when ORL is more than 51.8 kg COD/m² day, the risk of death is more probable to occur for anaerobic microbes.

2.4.5 Effect of organic toxicants

Several organic toxins, are toxic to methanogenesis process such as long chain fatty acids (LCFA). The reason is that LCFAs reduce the surface tension of microbial cell membrane and cause permeability. As can be inferred from table 2.6, the efficiency of biogas production has been reduced 40.2% by increasing lauric acid and plamitic acid. When acid concentration exceeds 2.7 kg/m², it will kill the methanogens [87]. The other group, is pharmaceuticals such as carbamazepine, sulfamethoxazole, and propranolol hydrochloride, which are harmful for acetoclastic methanogens [88]. These pharmaceuticals can prevent growth and generation of methanogens or can diminish their enzyme activities which both can result in failure of AD system. For instance, when the value of carbamazepine amount is higher than 0.23 kg/m³, methanogenesis will cease, and will result in acetate accumulation [89]. The other toxicant is cyanide which is generated during the sweet potato cultivation process. It inhibits the enzymatic activities, and finally decreases synthesis and division of cell and normal processes of methanogens. In a specific time interval, cyanide can exacerbate methanogen toxication. Efficiency of biogas production has been reduced 51.5% and time has increased from 4 h AD to 10 h AD, when the cyanide is 2.42 X10 kg/m³ [90].

2.4.6 Metallic ions effect

Microbial activity and growth can be stimulated by even low amounts of light metals such as aluminum (Al³⁺), magnesium (Mg²⁺), potassium (K⁺), and sodium (Na⁺). External metallic ions addition, is essential for anaerobic bacteria because they are not able to produce all of their needs to these metal ions [91]. But further increase in metallic ions will inhibit the functionality and will cause toxication. For instance, higher values than 2×10^{-3} kg Al³⁺ /m³ will result in reduction of acid-forming and Methanogen's activity due to adherence of Al⁺³ to the cell membrane and prevents the transportation processes [92]. The most suitable amount of Al³⁺, Mg²⁺, K⁺, and Na⁺ are less than 0.428, 0.78, 0.476, and 0.512 kg/m³, respectively.

Zhang et al. [93] has stated that when the concentration of potassium ion is 0.387 kg/m³, biogas production rate will be the maximum value by 37.5%. On the other hand, digestion efficiency can be reduced from 89.2% to 61.7% by further enhancement to 0.597 kg/m³ of potassium.

In specific concentrations, heavy metal ions are also able to improve anaerobic bacteria functionality [94]. Heavy metals which can be found in OSW's (organic solid wastes) are iron (Fe³⁺) copper (Cu²⁺) chromium (Cr³⁺) and cobalt (CO²⁺) ions. All in all, heavy metallic ions are supposed to be toxic for AD process [95]. The main reason for being toxic is reaction with microbial proteins and enzymes. These reactions result in reduction of methanogens and acid-

formers' activities. For example, Cu^{2+} will keep the normal function of AD when its concentration is under 5.88x10-4 kg/m³ but biogas production efficiency will be reduced by 12.9% when the concentration reaches to 4.7×10^{-3} kg/m³ [96]. So, the total value of heavy metallic ion in AD process has been proposed less than 1.5×10^{-3} kg/m³ [97].

There is growing interest in coupling anaerobic digestion and gasifier to utilize waste as resources in the circular economy [55], [56]. The lab scale experiment has shown promising results; however, limited or no investigation was dedicated to evaluating the techno-economic evaluation of the coupling scenario for biomethane production. Therefore, a systematic techno-evaluation was performed to fill the gap from the recent state of the art.

There have been studies on coupling gasification and anaerobic digestion processes to increase the amount of biomethane production. This process is called integrated gasification and anaerobic digestion (IGAD), and it involves gasifying the solid feedstocks to produce syngas, which is then fed to an anaerobic digestion reactor along with liquid or semi-solid feedstocks.

The gasification process converts the solid feedstocks into syngas, which contains carbon monoxide, hydrogen, and other gases. The syngas is then fed to an anaerobic digestion reactor along with liquid or semi-solid feedstocks, where it is converted into methane and carbon dioxide by the anaerobic microorganisms.

The main advantage of IGAD is that it can increase the amount of biomethane produced from a given feedstock, by utilizing the syngas produced from the gasification process. This can improve the overall efficiency of the process, as well as the economic viability of the project.

Several studies [58], [59] have shown that IGAD can be an effective process for producing biomethane from various feedstocks, including agricultural residues, municipal solid waste, and sewage sludge. However, IGAD is a complex process that requires careful integration of the gasification and anaerobic digestion systems, as well as careful selection of the feedstocks and operating conditions.

One recent investigation focused on the feasibility of using IGAD for biomethane production from food waste [58]. The researchers used process simulation and techno-economic analysis to evaluate the performance and economic viability of the IGAD process.

The results showed that IGAD was a promising process for producing biomethane from food waste, with a biomethane production potential of 427 m^3 /tonne of food waste. The study also showed that the economic viability of the process was dependent on several factors, including the feedstock cost, electricity price, and biomethane price.

Overall, the study demonstrated the potential of IGAD as a sustainable and economically viable process for biomethane production from food waste, which could contribute to reducing greenhouse gas emissions and promoting a circular economy.

3 System overview

The current chapter introduces the method for economic and simulation process of combining syngas fermentation and hydrothermal gasification to produce biomethane. Through the process design, the syngas fermentation is coupled with gasification process. The study intends to assess the economic viability of the three scenarios for the birch wood waste gasification to produce methane.

3.1 System arrangement

The integrated processes of the methane biorefinery are shown schematically in Figure 1. The flowchart employed in this study was used to evaluate the following three scenarios. The choice of three scenarios was made based on the results derived from the literature. The coupling of the gasifier with anaerobic digestion resulted in different methane content. It has been demonstrated that hydrogen is one of the limited gas factors in achieving biomethane (>97% CH₄) production. Thus three scenarios were created based on understanding from literature as i) utilize syngas composition as derived from gasifier ii) utilize steam to produce hydrogenrich syngas, and iii) utilize additional hydrogen for complete conversion of CO and CO_2 into CH_4

(i) Scenario 1 (generation of biomethane without any additional hydrogen): The most straightforward setting serves as the starting point to conduct extra comparisons. Hydrothermal gasification and syngas fermentation are the components of Scenario 1 (Fig. 1a).

(ii) Scenario 2 (generation of biomethane plus adding extra hydrogen): In this scenario, steam is injected as hydrogen source during syngas fermentation (Fig. 1b).

(iii) Scenario 3 (biomethanation plus pure hydrogen injection): The technique used in this case is comparable to that in scenario 2, with the exception that hydrogen is added to fermentation stage by a PEM electrolyzer unit (Fig. 1c). It should be emphasized that the syngas fermentation reactor's dimensions are equal to those in scenario 2 and 1.

In general, the study plans to evaluate different conceptual designs for biomethane production in order to enable economic evaluation. This will be done through extensive techno-economic and sensitivity analysis. Key economic indicators and the circumstances in which they can promote the commercialization process could also be gained through this investigation.

3.System overview



Figure 3.1 Biomethane production through (a) scenario 1, (b) scenario 2 and (c) scenario 3.

3.2 Process simulation

Fig. 3.2 depicts the proposed design for a biomethane production process flow diagram. The system's mass flow and energy flow were measured by the conceptual design. For this purpose, Aspen Plus v12 (AspenTech, Bedford, USA) was used to model a number of unit operations, including hydrothermal gasification, syngas fermentation, water separation, and cooling. The facility is designed to handle about 896 metric tons of birch wood waste, annually. It should be mentioned that Aspen Plus has a powerful database of physical properties that was employed for calculations.



Figure 3.2 Biomethane production simulation flow sheet (Senario 3)

3.2.1 Process description

Before entering the gasification reactor, the feed stream is mixed with the gasification agent, in this case steam, in a mixer (MIXGIBB). Water is eliminated from the reactor's output via separator (SEPGIBB) in order to accommodate for a dry analysis of the gas composition.

The computation is carried out at reactor temperature (850°C) in the Gibbs reactor (GASIFGIB). The parameters were developed using the same dimensions as those used in the work by Eikeland et al. [98]. After gasification process, in order to reach temperatures in which bacterizes can be active, the temperature is reduced to 50°C by means of heat-exchanger (HEATEX).

After temperature adjustment syngas is introduced to anaerobic digestion reactor (BIOREACT) for fermentation process. According to scenario1 no water, scenario2 water, scenario3 hydrogen, is added to this reactor in this step. In the final step, water is removed from the final product by separator (BIOSEP).

3.2.2 Composition of biomass

Table 3.1 displays the characteristics of the birch wood utilized as feedstock in this study. To facilitate experimental confirmation, the characteristics of the feed produced by Eikeland et al. [98] were utilized. In the next parts, unit operations were carefully detailed.

Gas	Mass fraction of mixed sub-streams mass	Mass fraction of CISolid sub- streams mass
CH ₄	0.0969	0
СО	0.5307	0
CO ₂	0.1365	0
H ₂	0.0125	0
С	0	1
H ₂ O	0.1509	0
C ₃ H ₆	0.0725	0

Table 3.1	Birch	wood	composition	n used in	Aspen	Plus	simulation	[98]
1 4010 5.1	Direit	woou	composition	i useu m	rispon	I Ius	Simulation	[70]

3.2.3 Components

Aspen Plus offers a large variety of components that can be utilized to simulate different chemical processes. The followings are a few of the common elements offered by Aspen Plus. The chemical elements hydrogen (H₂), carbon (C), nitrogen (N₂), oxygen (O₂), sulfur (S), and many others are listed in Aspen Plus' extensive list and can be used to simulate chemical

reactions.Aspen Plus contains a variety of inorganic substances, including water (H₂O), carbon dioxide (CO₂), ammonia (NH₃), sulfur dioxide (SO₂), and a lot more.Alkanes, alkenes, alkynes, alcohols, ketones, aldehydes, esters, ethers, aromatics, and many other forms of organic compounds are available in Aspen Plus' extensive database of organic compounds.

Ionic compounds: Aspen Plus contains a variety of ionic compounds that can be used to simulate ionic reactions, electrochemical processes, and other related systems. These compounds include salts, acids, bases, and other electrolytes.

Solid-state reactions, heat transfer, and other related processes can be modeled using solidstate compounds including minerals, catalysts, and other solid materials that are included in Aspen Plus.

Custom components: Aspen Plus enables users to create their own custom components with user-specified parameters. These components can be used to model proprietary chemicals or special chemical systems that are not represented in the database of standard components.

These are just a few illustrations of the common parts that Aspen Plus offers. Users can also add their own custom components as needed to the software's extensive library of parts, which can be used to model a variety of chemical systems and processes.

All of the components were correctly defined at the start of the simulation. The simulation's modelled components are listed in Table 3.2. Carbon was classified as solid components due to the uncertainty surrounding its exact chemical compositions. Other components are conventional throughout the simulation.

Component ID	Туре	Component name	Formula
CH ₄	Conventional	METHANE	CH ₄
СО	Conventional	CARBON-MONOXIDE	CO
CO ₂	Conventional	CARBON-DIOXIDE	CO ₂
H_2	Conventional	HYDROGEN	H ₂
С	Solid	CARBON-GRAPHITE	С
H ₂ O	Conventional	WATER	H ₂ O
PROPY-01	Conventional	PROPYLENE	C3H6

Table 3.2 Components used in Aspen Plus simulation [98].

3.2.4 Properties

Aspen Plus utilizes the MIXCISLD stream class, and Peng-Robinson (PR) cubic equation of state with Boston-Mathias for property method which is called PR-BM function. For applications in petrochemical, refinery, and gas processing, the PR-BM property approach is advised. For nonpolar or barely polar mixtures, the PR-BM property technique is employed. Hydrocarbons and light gases like carbon dioxide, hydrogen sulfide, and hydrogen are a few examples [99].

3.2.5 Stream properties

Table 3.3 is a list of the precise specs for the biomass, water, and hydrogen. It should be notified that the streams for water and hydrogen are for second and third scenario, respectively.

Stream	Component	Temperature	Pressure	Mass flow rate	Engaged Scenarios
FEED	Table 3.1	0 °C	1 bar	112 kg/h	Sc1, Sc2, Sc3
H2OGIBB	H ₂ O	0 °C	1 bar	224 kg/h	Sc1, Sc2, Sc3
COWIN	H ₂ O	20 °C	1 bar	5000 kg/h	Sc1, Sc2, Sc3
H2BIO	H ₂ O	50 °C	1 bar	112 kg/h	Sc2
H2OBIO	H ₂	0 °C	1 bar	10 kg/h	Sc3

Table 3.3 Stream properties used in Aspen Plus simulation

3.2.6 Block properties

The next step (after defining the stream properties), is determining the properties for the blocks in the simulation. Table 3.4 shows the properties of blocks which is utilized in Aspen Plus simulation. It should be noted that these properties are equal for all scenarios.

Block name	Schematics	Temp	Press	description
MIXGIBB		NA	NA	Engineers and scientists can model the behavior of complicated mixtures and anticipate their attributes in a variety of process simulation scenarios using the Mixture block in Aspen Plus, which is an adaptable tool. In this simulation it has been utilized to mix the feed and water before entering the gasifier.
GASIFGIB		850 °C		The Gibbs reactor in Aspen Plus is a type of reactor model used to simulate chemical reactions that occur under constant Gibbs
BIOREACT	DREACT 1 ba		1 bar	free energy conditions. It is a specialized reactor model that allows for the prediction of the equilibrium composition of a reacting system based on the minimization of Gibbs free energy.

3.System overview

SEPGIBB				The Component Separator in Aspen Plus is a unit operation model used for separating or
BIOSEP	BIOSEP		NA	fractionating a mixture into its individual components based on their physical properties, such as boiling point, condensation point, or vapor pressure. It is used to separate water from syngas and biofuel to obtain a dry basis combination.
HEATEX		NA	NA	The HEATX block in Aspen Plus can also include additional features, such as fouling factors, pressure drops, and temperature approaches, to account for realistic operating conditions in industrial heat exchangers. It has been used to cool down the syngas before entering the biomethanation reactor.

3.2.7 Assumptions

The Aspen plus simulation was based on a number of assumptions:

- i. The system runs under steady state circumstances and is isothermal.
- ii. Operation pressure is atmospheric pressure, disregard for pressure drops.
- iii. Ash, Sulphur, chlorine, and nitrogen are ignored.
- iv. Tar formation is not taken into account.
- v. Char contains only carbon.
- vi. The gasifier's heat loss is disregarded.

3.3 Economic evaluation

The minimum selling price (MSP) of biomethane—the price at which costs and revenues are equal—was calculated using an economic model, and its effects on various variables, such as the price of utility and labor cost, were also examined. The most significant techno-economic characteristics were also determined, and the net present value (NPV) and payback period (PBP) were later estimated, using a thorough discounted cash flow analysis (DCFA). This technique was also utilized to compare the three different scenarios examined in this study in terms of their financial feasibility. All the above mentioned parameters will be explained in detail in following sections.

3.3.1 Equipment purchase cost

The first step in economic evaluation is defining the EPC. Equipment which are used in various scenarios and their numbers are represented in the table 3.5.

	Equipment's Name	Scenario No. Number of Equ.				
No.		Sc.1	Sc.2	Sc.3		
1	Bioreactor for syngas fermentation	1	1	1		
2	Electrolysis unit	0	0	1		
3	Flash separators	2	2	2		
4	Heat exchangers	1	1	1		
5	Gasification reactor	1	1	1		
6	Pumps	1	2	2		

Table 3.5. Equipment number in different scenarios

Available costs in different references are related to different years and various capacities. In order to reach required purchase cost, two sets of formulation have been utilized to reach this aim.

For converting purchase cost from initial year to current year (2023), Chemical Engineering Plant Cost Index (CEPCI) has been used as follow [100].

$$Cost_{Current} = Cost_{Ref} \left(\frac{CEPCI_{Current}}{CEPCI_{Ref}} \right)$$
(3.1)

CEPCI for different years is provided in table 3.6 Appendix C.

Although other formulations can be employed for various process units, the six-tenths-factor rule is the most common one. Using this approach, the equipment cost is calculated by multiplying the known cost of the real process units by the exponentiated ratio of the equipment capacities. An exponent suggests that economic aspects of scaling can be taken into consideration. Because it is highly helpful to scale up or down to a new capacity in order to determine the impact of a plant size. Eq. (3.2) illustrates the six-tenths rule [100].

$$\frac{C_{Current}}{C_{Ref}} = \left(\frac{A_{Current}}{A_{Ref}}\right)^n \tag{3.2}$$

Where C is the equipment's cost (NOK) and A is equipment's capacity $(m^2, kW, kg/h...)$ and n is defined in the table 3.7 **Appendix C**. It should be noted that for USD to NOK currency conversion 10 is multiplied.

3.3.2 Capital Expenditure

To evaluate the CAPEX, the bottom-up methodology was applied. According to this method, each cost element was calculated as a percentage of the equipment purchase cost (EPC) [104]. The direct and indirect costs were calculated as part of the CAPEX estimate, as indicated in Table 3.6.

	Cost component	Factors used for estimation
DC	Equipment purchase cost, EPC (bare module cost) (1)	100% of EPC
	Equipment installation cost (2)	40% of EPC
	Controls and instrumentation (3)	26% of EPC
	Piping and electrical systems (4)	41% of EPC
	Buildings (including services) (5)	10% of EPC
	Yard improvements (6)	12% of EPC
	Direct cost, DC (7)	(7) = (1) + (2) + (3) + (4) + (5) + (6) = 2,29 *EPC
IC	Indirect cost, INC (8)	(8) = 21.9% of DC = 0,5015* EPC
FCI	Fixed capital investment, FCI (9)	(9) = DC + INC = 2,79 * EPC
	Working capital, WC (10)	15% of FCI
	Startup cost, SUC (11)	5% of FCI
	Capital expenditures, CAPEX	FCI + WC + SUC = 3,35*EPC

Table 3.8. Formulation utilized in the estimation of CAPEX (References: [102], [103], and [104]).

3.3.3 Operation Expenditure

The assumptions listed in Table 3.7 were also used to estimate OPEX, which includes both fixed and variable costs.

The cost of raw materials plus the price of utilities like cooling water and steam made up the variable operating cost (VOC) [103]. The fixed operating cost (FOC), on the other hand, was mostly tied to labor costs, employee social benefits, management, administrative costs, and maintenance and repair fees [104]. The number of workers employed for each 8-hour shift to run a fully automated process (N_{OL}), illustrated in Eq. (3.1) [105], was used for calculating the cost of labor.

$$N_{OL} = \sqrt{31.7P^2 + 0.23N_{NP} + 6.29} \tag{3.1}$$

P is the number of processing stages involving the handling of particle solids, such as transportation and distribution, particulate size control, and particulate removal in this study P is considered 2 for first and second scenario and 3 for scenario 3. Where N_{OL} is the number of operators each shift. Compression, heating and cooling, mixing, and reactions are all included in the N_{np} that measures the number of non-particulate processing stages according to the Eq. (3.2) [105]. This parameter is equal to 3 for all scenarios.

$$N_{np} = \sum_{\substack{\text{Reactors}\\ \text{Exchangers}\\ \text{Heaters}\\ \text{Towers}}} Equipment$$
(3.2)

3.System overview

An average yearly salary of 550,000 NOK was considered for each worker. Based on the correlation in Eq. (3.1), 12, 12, and 17 workers, were calculated to execute scenarios 1, 2, and 3 of the plant, respectively.

	Parameter	Price	
FOC	Supervision (1)	25% of labor cost	
	Direct overhead (2)	50% of (labor + supervision cost)	
	General overhead (3)	50% of (labor + supervision cost + direct overhead)	
	Insurance and tax (4)	1% of FCI	
	Maintenance labor and materials (5)	3% of FCI	
	Additional expenses (e.g., marketing, logistics, operation services, etc.) (6)	1% of FCI	
	Laboratory cost (7)	1% of Labor cost	
	Financing working capital (8)	$0.1 \times WC$	
	Fixed operating cost (9)	(9) = (1) + (2) + (3) + (4) + (5) + (6) + (7) + (8)	
VOC	Cooling water (10)	NOK 150/1000 m3	
	Electricity (11)	NOK 1/KWh	
	Total utilities cost (USD\$) (13)	(13) = (10) + (11)	
	Deionized water (12)	NOK 818/1000 m3 [1]	
	Feed (14)	NOK 1 per kg [3]	
	Total cost of raw materials (15)	(15) = (12) + (14)	
	Variable operating costs (16)	$(16) = (15) + \overline{(13)}$	
	OPEX (17)	$(17) = (9) + (\overline{16})$	

Table 3.9. Formulation utilized in the estimation of OPEX (References: [102], [103], and [104]).

3.3.4 Economic theories and concepts

To comprehend and complete a techno-economic assessment, several economic principles should be defined.

The initial investment (C_0) and all subsequent cash flows (terms C_n , which do not account for the time value of money) are discounted back to their present value at a suitable hurdle rate (r), i.e., the sum of each net present cash flow (cash inflow - cash outflow) in year n over the entire number of years, N. This yields the net present value (NPV), which is the total of all present values, including the initial investment (C_0). So, in order to approve a project, cumulative or total NPV must be positive [100].

$$(total) NPV = C_0 + \sum_{n=1}^{N} NPV_n = C_0 + \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{C_n}{(1+r)^n}$$
(3.3)

The internal rate of return (IRR), which is based on incremental time-weighted cash flows, is the discount rate that results in the net present value zero. IRR must be greater than an acceptable rate in order to approve a proposal [100].

3.System overview

$$NPV = C_0 + \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{C_n}{(1 + IRR)^n} = 0$$
(3.4)

The payback period (PBP) is the amount of time that is needed to recoup the initial investment via business income. In other words, PBP shows how long it will take for the initial investment to be recovered from the generated cash flows, often stated in years when the working capital has been discounted.

The rate of return on investment (ROI) calculates the variance of revenues and investment in relative to each other, i.e., the efficiency of an investment in a business, after deducting costs.

The most prevalent analysis techniques for determining the viability of a project or its profitability are those based on PBP, ROI, NPV, or discounted cash flow upon full-life performance, however there are also alternatives.

It would be beneficial to evaluate projects with a brief lifespan because, according to definition, PBP does not take the project performance after the payback period into account. Similar to how ROI can be used to exclude investments with rates below a predetermined target ROI value and ignore the timing of cash flows. A discounted (or non-discounted) cash flow analysis, which is the recommended method to use and will be outlined below, can be employed to connect NPV and IRR.

The minimum selling price (break-even point) of biomethane can be determined using discounted cash flow analysis once the process's capital and operating costs have been determined. This cost is exactly what is necessary to recoup the initial investment without incurring any losses or gains, but at an interest rate determined by IRR. To complete this process, the following factors must be taken into account:

• Both the life time for performing the capital investment and the allocation for each year

during that time period. Investment in land should be taken into account as well.

- The duration of both construction and operation.
- Taxation rate.
- The necessary IRR.
- The method of depreciating of assets and the life time for doing so; across the depreciation period, straight-line (or linear) depreciation is primarily used.

On the basis of a number of assumptions, illustrated in Table 3.7, the economic viability of a biomethane production plant with a birch wood processing capacity of 896 tons/year was evaluated.
3.System overview

Parameters	Assumptions
Plant location	Norway
Currency used for economics analysis	NOK
Plant lifetime	20 years
Construction duration	1 years
Plant yearly operation	8000 h/year
Tax rate	30 %
Depreciation method	Straight line
Depreciation time	15 years
Salvage value	0 (used to offset decommissioning cost)
Base year	2023
Land cost	6% TIC
Feed utilization capacity	896 tons/year

Table 3.10 Assumptions for economic model estimation [106].

Due to the harshness (high temperatures in gasifier) of the working conditions, lifetime should be greater than 15 years but not significantly longer (20 years might be a decent baseline). Depending on the timing and engineering, the depreciation may take between 10 and 15 years to complete. Similar to this, IRR should be 10% or more, as will be shown below [100].

The opening of a senior debt, which is borrowed money that a company must repay first, the funding costs, the interest, and other expenses must all be taken into account in a TEA. These expenses are typically financed by banks. A base-case analysis, or one that takes into account no borrowing, can be performed at 100% equity financing.

The formulas used in a spreadsheet to do the discounted cash flow analysis with 100% equity financing are provided in table 3.11 **Appendix C**.

In the economic calculation, it was also expected that the plant would not receive any further maintenance due to safety concerns, which resulted in a low salvage value (money from selling the used property at the end of its useful life). Additionally, the factory was built in a year and ran for nineteen years, 330 days a year, with a capacity factor of over 90%. 30% of income was taxed [100].

While the plant is being built, 50% of the TIC and land are paid. The most unfavorable cash flow is obtained right at this point because at the end of the first year, 55% of the total investment cost (TIC) (the remaining capital investment plus working capital) are paid, but nothing is created. The investment starts to be recovered at an IRR of 10% when production starts at the beginning of the second year. From this point on and through the last year, there are sales revenues (Oxygen in third scenario and biomethane) [100].

3.4 Sensitivity analysis

A sensitivity analysis for the MSP (Minimum Selling Price) of a biogas production plant is a tool used to evaluate the impact of changes in key parameters on the overall economic viability of the project. The analysis involves varying one or more input parameters while keeping all other parameters constant, in order to determine how sensitive the MSP is to changes in those parameters.

By conducting a sensitivity analysis for the MSP of a biogas production plant, project developers can identify the most important factors affecting the economic viability of the project, and develop strategies to mitigate potential risks or uncertainties. This can help ensure the long-term sustainability and profitability of the biogas production plant.

To make the proposed process configurations more reliable, consistent, and credible, sensitivity analysis was carried out on them. More significantly, the sensitivity analysis was employed to assess how different variables affected the MSP of biomethane. The factors with the most effects on the MSP of biomethane were also identified and ranked via sensitivity analysis. The price of utility cost of labor, cost of land, cost of biomass, and tax rate are a few of the variables. The variables were modified by giving them high and low values that were respectively +30% and -30% of their initial value.

3.5 Efficiency calculation

The energy efficiency of each process is determined using Eq. (3.1), which adds the energy content of the feed and the power consumption. It is based on the ratio of biomethane energy output (on an LHV basis). Since the other variables in Eq. (3.1) are written in terms of thermal energy, the latter was divided by 0.4 (efficiency of a typical thermal plant). LHV of feed is 15.02 MJ/kg on a dry basis.

$$\eta_{plant} = \frac{\dot{m}_{bio-CH_4} LHV_{bio-CH_4}}{\dot{m}_{feed} LHV_{feed} + Electricity \ consumed/0.4}$$
(3.1)

3.System overview

4 Results

In this chapter simulation results has been validated by experimental results. In the next step, economical evaluation of design has been presented for different scenarios. Finally, sensitivity analysis has been illustrated for those three scenarios.

4.1 Gasification process validation

A comparison between the simulation predicted gas yields and empirical values [107] is shown in Figure 4.1. This figure shows a slight deviation between gasification products through various temperatures. The outcomes demonstrated that hydrogen production (purple color) was enhanced at higher temperatures. In addition, findings showed that greater temperatures resulted in less carbon dioxide (green bars) production. Moreover, the results showed that carbon monoxide (red columns) production was boosted by higher temperatures. On the other hand, the findings of the simulation and the experimental data for methane (blue pillars) differ significantly from each other, in contrast to other components. It should be noted that more details has been provided in discussion chapter, specifically.



Figure 4.1 Comparing the empirical gas yield from [107] studies at various temperatures with the gas yield determined by Aspen Plus simulation.

4.2 Economical assessment

In this part of results the outputs of investigation and calculation on economical aspect of the financial concepts are represented for each of scenarios in different parts such EPC, OPEX, DCFL and, etc.

4.2.1 Equipment purchase cost

Fig. 4.2 shows the breakdown of the equipment acquisition costs for each scenario. Pumps and flash separators account for 29.4% and 35.2%, respectively, of the total equipment acquisition cost during Scenario 1 (left column). In scenario 2 (middle column), these items make up 45.4% and 27.2%, respectively, of the total cost of the equipment. Pumps, separators, and electrolyzers make up the majority of the equipment in scenario 3 (right column), accounting for 39.2%, 23.4%, and 13.7% of the total equipment purchase cost, respectively.



Figure 4.2 EPC breakdown for each scenario

It should be underlined that results related to this bar chart is represented in Appendix D.

Due to its straightforward design and lack of several processing units like those found in scenarios 2 and 3, Scenario 1 had the lowest overall equipment cost (2368057 NOK). As opposed to scenario 1, scenario 3's overall equipment cost was almost 1.5 times of scenario 1. Following is the sequence in which the overall cost of the EPC decreased: Scenario 3 (3552892 NOK) comes in ahead of scenario 2 (3064361 NOK) and scenario 1 (2368057 NOK).

4.2.2 Operational and capital expenditures

Fig. 4.3 displays the breakdown of OPEX for each scenario. It should be mentioned that the price of feed cost and the cost of the utilities were included in the variable operating cost

4.Results

(VOC). The cost of energy was included in the utility costs, though. However, the fixed operating and maintenance cost (FOC) also covered the cost of monitoring and other incurred costs. Figure 4.3 shows that scenario 3 had the highest OPEX (36 Million NOK), in contrast to scenario 1, which had the lowest OPEX (25.7 Million NOK). The reason for scenario 3's greater OPEX may be the cost of the utility, which accounts for about 48% of the OPEX. Utility costs accounted for 50% in scenarios 1 and 2, in contrast. It should be noted that the OPEX for each scenario was mostly influenced by utility expenses. Finding a cost-effective utility source is therefore essential for assessing the economic viability of a project.



Figure 4.3 OPEX breakdown for each scenario

4.2.3 Discounted cash flow rate

The fluctuation of the total discounted and undiscounted (present) cash flow over the plant's lifetime is depicted in Fig.4.4 (a-c) for three scenarios. The cumulative non-discounted and discounted cash flow graphs over the plant's lifetime are shown in this picture. Working capital (the additional expenditure required for the plant start-up and initial operation until producing revenues) was set at 5% TIC in this analysis. A lifetime of 20 years and a 15-year linear depreciation were also considered. In addition, the capital investment was split into two equal payments: 50% at the start and 50% at the conclusion of the first year.









4.Results





Figure 4.4 DCFR and NDCFR for Scenario1 (a), Scenario2 (b) and, Scenario3 (c)

Table 4.1. lists the important profitability metrics that were identified.

Profitability indicators	Scenario 1	Scenario 2	Scenario 3
MSP of Biomethane (NOK/Kg)	237,75	164,64	120,43
Undiscounted NPV (Million NOK)	53,36	57,23	75,91
Discounted NPV (Million NOK)	1,07	1,15	1,52
PBP (year)	8,20	8,50	8,60
DBEP (year)	16,00	16,50	16,50

Table 4.1. Comparison of the main profitability metrics.

When compared to scenarios 2 and 1, scenario 3 had the lowest predicted MSP for biomethane (120.43 per kg). In the same way, scenario 3, favored the undiscounted NPV with 75.9 million NOK. While scenario 2 had a NPV (57.2 million NOK), scenario 1 had a smallest NPV of 53.4 million NOK.

4.2.4 Sensitivity analysis

The effects of the examined factors on the MSP of biomethane for the three scenarios are showed in figure 4.5(a-c). This figure shows the influence of the investigated parameters on the MSP of biomethane for the three scenarios. The cost of labor and utilities had the most effects on the MSP of biomethane. Due to a 30% drop in the price of utility, the MSP of biomethane increased 33.4 NOK/kg in scenario 1 (figure 4.5 - a). The MSP decreased 21.6 NOK/kg , which is comparable to how the cost of labor decreased by 30%. Scenario 2 (figure 4.5 - b) showed a pattern that was identical to scenario 1 with a difference in the cost of the labor and utility. In scenario 2, the MSP of biomethane increased 22.7 NOK/kg and 14.8 NOK/kg, with an increase of 30% in the price of labor and utilities, respectively. The MSP of biomethane in scenario 3 (figure 4.5 - c) significantly changed as a result of changes in utility and labor costs, similar to scenario 2. The MSP of biomethane climbed 16.4 NOK/kg with a 30% increase in utility expenses. When the labor costs increased by 30% , the MSP climbed 11.7 NOK/kg.



(a)









Figure 4.5 Sensitivity analysis for Scenario1 (a), Scenario2 (b) and, Scenario3 (c)

4.3 Efficiency calculation

In order to reach efficiency of plant for each scenario, a comprehensive energy and mass balance will be required. Energy and mass flow rate of each stream inside the conceptual plant has been determined via Aspen Plus simulation.

4.3.1 Energy and mass balance

Fig. 4.6 (a-c) display the energy and mass balance of each scenario. It should be noted that all the data presented in the following figures are extracted from Aspen plus simulation of each scenario. As previously mentioned, hydrothermal gasification and syngas fermentation were present in every scenario. Similar to this, birch wood was the identical feedstock used in all of the situations. The ratio of the quantity of energy that is usefully output from the products to the energy that is input into the system was used to assess the energy efficiency of each process. The system's total energy input was included in the latter. It should be mentioned that during the energy efficiency calculations, the ratios of each energy output and input were stated as a product of the matching lower heating values (LHV) of each component. Scenario 3 is shows an ideal results in comparison with other scenarios. Scenario 1 and, 2 are also assessed to provide a better comparison. Efficiency of each process is calculated in the next part. Scenario 1 is the simplest scenario due to its simple arrangement. Scenario 2 and 3 compare the effect of adding water and hydrogen latter in the process of biomethane production, respectively. And they prove that adding hydrogen to enrich the fermentation process is more effective than water.



(a)



Figure 4.6 Sensitivity analysis for Scenario1 (a), Scenario2 (b) and, Scenario3 (c)

4.3.2 Plant efficiency

Plant efficiency is a key factor in the assessment of a biogas plant, as it determines the overall effectiveness of the process in converting the feedstock into energy. The efficiency of a biogas plant can be evaluated in terms of energy efficiency.

The energy efficiency of a biogas plant is the amount of energy produced as biogas compared to the energy input required to operate the plant. This metric takes into account the energy used to run the plant, such as electricity for pumps and mixers, and can be affected by factors such as plant design, feedstock type, and operating conditions. A higher energy efficiency indicates a more effective process and can reduce the operating costs of the plant.

The energy efficiency of a biogas plant is the amount of energy produced as biogas compared to the energy input required to operate the plant. This metric takes into account the energy used to run the plant, such as electricity for pumps and mixers, and can be affected by factors such as plant design, feedstock type, and operating conditions. A higher energy efficiency indicates a more effective process and can reduce the operating costs of the plant.

It should be mentioned that during the energy efficiency calculation, the ratios of each energy input and output were stated as a product of the matching lower heating values (LHV) of each component.

Table 4.2 displays plant efficiency of each scenario according to the correlation stated in the third chapter.

	feed flow rate (kg/hr)	LHV of feed (MJ/kg)	Biomethane flow rate (kg/hr)	LHV of Methane (MJ/kg)	Electricity Consumed (Mwh)	Energy Efficiency
Scenario 1	112	15,023931	17,3	12,55614	0,1045	12,9
Scenario 2	112	15,023931	25,1535	12,55614	0,1045	18,7
Scenario 3	112	15,023931	46,79507	12,55614	0,6695	34,9

5 Discussion

This chapter discusses the results from the simulation, economical assessment and, sensitivity analysis. In order to determine the optimal economic conditions, the impacts of various operating variables on the biomethane production results, are reviewed.

5.1 Process simulation

With a few minor modifications, the proposed model came very near to the experimental findings. All other gas yields generated using the Aspen Plus model marginally outperformed the experimental values, with some few exception. Several factors could be responsible for the minor discrepancy between model predictions and experimental values during the hydrothermal gasification of feed. The heterogeneous nature of birch makes it challenging to model in Aspen plus. The difference between the Aspen Plus simulation findings and the actual feedstock may be due to differences in the feedstock composition. The experimental tests were also carried out in a batch reactor without any agitation [107].

5.1.1 Hydrogen yield

The results showed that higher temperatures improved the generation of hydrogen. According to results presented in figure 4.1 volume fraction of hydrogen produced during the gasification process increases slightly by 2% via enhancement of temperature of the process from 650°C to 850°C. Similarly the same improvement can be observed in experimental data. There is a very small variation between simulation results by Aspen Plus and Experimental data. These differences are 4.5%, 11.1% and, 4.8% for 650°c, 750° and, 850°C, respectively. This trend is also stated in the investigation of Mohammed et al. [15] as discussed in the literature review section.

Hydrogen volume fraction increment by temperature is because that endothermic reforming reaction of hydrocarbons became more effective (as mentioned in chapter 2). On the other hand, variations between experimental and simulation originates from the methodology which is utilized for simulation and assumption which is made during the process of simulation. For hydrogen this range of deviation is completely acceptable and valid.

5.1.2 Carbon dioxide yield

The outcomes demonstrated that carbon dioxide production was reduced at higher temperatures. According to the findings shown in figure 4.1, increasing the process temperature from 650°C to 750°C and 750°C to 850°C causes a 57.4% and 22.35 reduction in the volume fraction of carbon dioxide produced during the gasification process, respectively. Similar reduction trend have also been seen in experimental data. The difference between simulated findings using Aspen Plus and experimental data is incredibly minimal. These variations for 650°C, 750°C, and 850°C are 21%, 26.6%, and 30.3%, respectively. This reduction can also be justified according to Le Chatelier's principle. This behavior is also explained in the study of Lv et al. [38] as stated in the literature review section[38].

5.1.3 Carbon monoxide yield

The findings indicated that greater temperatures enhanced carbon monoxide production. In accordance with the findings shown in figure 4.1, the volume fraction of carbon monoxide produced during the gasification process increases slightly by 5% as a result of raising the process temperature from 750°C to 850°C. The same improvement can also be shown in the experimental data. Between simulated findings from Aspen Plus and experimental data, there is hardly any difference. For 650°C, 750°C, and 850°C, respectively, these disparities are 3.7%, 12.7%, and 24.2%. Same reasons which is mentioned above can be utilized to explain the differences. According to the literature review section, the study by Li et al. [39] explains the pattern as well.

5.1.4 Methane yield

In contrast with other components, there are significant differences between simulation results and experimental data. In accordance with the results depicted in figure 4.1, the volume fraction of methane produced during the gasification process reduced significantly as a result of raising the process temperature from 650°C to 850°C. This reduction behavior is slighter in experimental data. According to the literature review section, this behavior is also explained in the study of Wongsiriamnuay et al. [29].

5.2 Economical evaluation

In this part results of economical and financial concepts are discussed for each of scenarios in different parts such EPC, OPEX, DCFL and, etc. This results have been compared with each other and other available literatures.

5.2.1 EPC results

During Scenario 1 the most expensive equipment are pumps and flash separators which allocate 29.4% and, 35.2% of all equipment purchase cost, respectively. These equipment occupy 45.4% and, 27.2% of all equipment purchase cost in scenario 2, respectively. For scenario 3 the most portion belongs to pumps, separators and, electrolyzer which include 39.2%, 23.4% and, 13.7% of all equipment purchase cost, respectively. Electrolyzer in scenario 3 adds extra cost in comparison with scenario 2. EPC of scenario 3 is 50% higher than the EPC of scenario 1 and EPC of scenario 2 is 29.2% higher than the cheapest scenario. In all the scenarios, pumps are the most expensive portion of EPC and Bio-reactor is the smallest one.

5.2.2 Operational and capital expenditure

In contrast to scenario 1, which had the lowest OPEX (25 759 480 NOK), scenario 3 had the greatest OPEX (36 037 468 NOK), as seen in figure 4.3. The cost of utility making up around 48% of the OPEX in scenario 3 may be the cause of its higher OPEX. On the other hand, for scenarios 1 and 2, utility expenses accounted for 50%. It should be highlighted that for all of the scenarios, the OPEX was mostly driven by utility costs. As a result, finding a cost-effective utility source is crucial for determining a project's economic sustainability.

For each scenario, the FOC contribution was likewise substantial. For each case, the FOC contributed between 47% and 49%. In scenarios 1, 2, and 3, FOC made up 47%, 47%, and 49% of the OPEX, respectively.

The CAPEX, which includes fixed capital investment (FCI), working capital, and starting costs, grew as follows: scenario 1 (7 932 548 NOK), scenario 2 (10 265 035 NOK), and scenario 3 (11 901 523 NOK). As a result, finding a cost-effective electricity source is crucial for determining a project's economic sustainability.

5.2.3 Discounted cash flow rate

Fig. 4.4 (a-c) displays the associated cumulative non-discounted and discounted cash flow graphs over the plant's lifespan. In this study, a lifetime of 20 years and a 15-year linear depreciation were assumed, and working capital (the additional investment needed for the plant start-up and initial operation until generating revenues) was set at 5% TIC. Additionally, 50% of the capital investment was paid at the beginning and the remaining 50% at the end of the first year.

In the economic calculation, it was also expected that the plant would not receive any further maintenance due to safety concerns, which resulted in a low salvage value (money from selling the used property at the end of its useful life). Additionally, the factory was built in a year and ran for nineteen years, 330 days a year, with a capacity factor of over 90%. 30% of income was taxed.

Considering Fig. 4.4 (c), the fact that 50% of the TIC and the land are being paid for while the plant is being built results in a negative cash flow in year zero. The most unfavorable cash flow is obtained right at this point because at the end of the first year, 55% of the total investment cost (TIC) (the remaining capital investment plus working capital) are paid, but nothing is created. The investment starts to be recovered at an IRR of 10% when production starts at the beginning of the second year. From this point on and through the last year, there are sales revenues (in this example, from the sale of oxygen and biomethane).

Since depreciation ends after 15 years, the cash flow recovers more slowly from the seventeenth to the final year. The simple non-discounted and discounted payback times, which show the time needed to return the initial investment from the start after discounting the land and working capital, are 8.6 and 16.5 years, respectively. Because the lifespan of the project is longer than its payback period, it can be profitable. Since the non-discounted cash flows change from negative to positive values, the project is generating a return on investment past the non-discounted payback period, which is represented by the sum of all of them (cumulative cash flow) as a positive end value of 76 million NOK.

5.2.4 Sensitivity analysis

The effects of the examined parameters on the MSP of biomethane for the three scenarios are depicted in Figure 4.5 (a-c). The MSP of biomethane was most significantly impacted by the price of utility and labor. The MSP of biomethane increased in scenario 1 from 237.7 NOK/kg to 271.1 NOK/kg as a result of a 30% decrease in the price of utility. Similar to how the cost of labor decreased by 30%, the MSP also changed, going from 237.7 NOK/kg to 216.1 NOK/kg. With a change in the cost of the labor and Utility, scenario 2 demonstrated a pattern that was identical to scenario 1. In scenario 2, with an increase of 30% in the price of utility and labor, respectively, the MSP of biomethane increased from 164.6 NOK/kg to 187.3 NOK/kg and from 164.6 NOK/kg to 179.4 NOK/kg.

Similar to scenario 2, a change in the utility and labor cost led to a substantial shift in the MSP of biomethane for scenario 3. With a 30% increase in utility costs, the MSP of biomethane increased from 120.4 NOK/kg to 136.8 NOK/kg. The MSP increased from 120.4 NOK/kg to 132.1 NOK/kg, while labor expenses increased by 30% at the same time.

The MSP of biomethane was also influenced by other independent factors as tax rate, feedstock cost, and land cost. For the three cases, though, their effects were more muted. It should be underlined that for the three scenarios, the tax rate had the least impact on the MSP of biomethane.

5.2.5 Efficiency of plants

The sequence in which the energy efficiency rose may be observed in each of the figures. Scenarios 1, 2 and, 3 each have three possible outcomes: 12.9%, 18.8%, and 34.9%, respectively. (Table 4.2).

Comparisons were made between the energy efficiency found in this study (19–35%) and that found in the literature on the thermochemical and biochemical conversion of waste materials. For integrated anaerobic digestions, traditional gasification, and biomethanation processes, Michailos et al. [108], showed an efficiency range of 26.5-35.5%.

Energy efficiency for the autothermal reforming and supercritical water reforming of glycerol was reported by Galera and Ortiz [108][109] to be 36% and 35.8%, respectively.

These comparisons states that simulation results has relatively viable and reliable values, especially at third scenario.

5.Discussion

6 Conclusion and recommendation

Biomass gasification for syngas production and its utilization for biomethane production by coupling anaerobic digestion is one of the best alternatives to valorize the waste material. In this regard, the lab-scale experiments have demonstrated promising results for natural gasquality biomethane production; however, the economic aspect has often been undermined. Therefore this master's thesis investigated the techno-economical aspect of biomethane production by coupling gasifier and anaerobic digestion. Three different scenarios were evaluated for their techno-economic viability. Scenario 1 is based on biomethane generation through syngas fermentation and hydrothermal gasification. Biomass and steam gasification for hydrogen generation and coupling with syngas fermentation make up Scenario 2. Finally, in scenario 3, an electrolytic unit was added to generate hydrogen in scenario 2 to produce biomethane. Simulation of these scenarios was fulfilled by Aspen Plus software in order to obtain mass and energy balance. By finding the mass and energy balance of each scenario, their efficiencies is defined by simulation results. In addition, the literature review was performed about two processes, including gasification and anaerobic digestion and the optimal operational parameters of each one. By coupling the gasification process with anaerobic digestion, biomethane production from birch waste increased significantly. This coupling has increased the amount of 43 vol.% (individual gasification process) to more than 90 vol.%.

To determine the designs' economic viability, various profitability indexes were also used to evaluate them. This techno-economic assessment of the economic upscaling of a conceptual process makes it possible for project developers to identify the most important factors affecting the project's economic viability and develop strategies to optimize the process and reduce costs. This can help ensure the long-term sustainability and profitability of the biogas plant. During the economic evaluation, it has been assumed that lifetime of the plants is twenty years, and in the first year entire plant has been supposed to be constructed. Location, currency, and time of evaluation have been considered Norway, NOK and 2023, respectively. The economic viability of the scenarios was assessed using the MSP of biomethane. Following are the declines in MSP for bioethanol: scenarios 1 (237 NOK per liter), 2 (164 NOK per liter), and 3 (120 NOK per liter) are all possible outcomes. The payback period for all the scenarios is almost the same. So. It can be concluded that scenario 3 is the best scenario from economical aspect.

The analyzed scenarios' efficiencies in terms of energy use range from 13% to 19%. The maximum energy efficiency was found in Scenario 3 at 35%. So, it can be inferred that scenario 3 is the most efficient and profitable scenario among these three scenarios. Scenario 3 has more EPC cost in comparison with other ones. But with its sub-product (oxygen) it compensates the cost faster than the others and reaches profitability period, quickly. The combination of gasification and AD process is an appropriate method to increase the efficiency of each technique. In addition, TEA is one of the most promising methods to evaluate a design and concept before running into a comprehensive biogas plant testing and manufacturing to ensure that your proposal meets the requirements.

The simulation based on the kinetic model can be studied since this simulation relied on the minimization of the Gibbs free energy model. More parameters, as introduced in chapter two can be investigated. Among those three scenarios, the third one is the most profitable scenario not only for its high biomethane production but also for its high profitability compared with

6. Conclusion and recommendation

others. So, it can be chosen as an ideal concept for biomethane production, among others. According to results of EPC section it can be concluded that main portion of each biomethanation plant is devoted to its pumps. As a suggestion to reduce the PBP of third scenario hydrogen can be supported by an external source. This will eliminate electrolyzer which has raised the EPC and subsequently TIC of Scenario 3.

To reduce utility cost which covers a vast portion of OPEX, plant can be located in north of Norway. This will reduce both the Utility and land cost. It can be recommended that by utilizing new methods for automation and artificial intelligence technologies can reduce the labor costs and make the design more profitable and valuable.

During the cash flow rate analysis, it has been supposed that no money is loaned from external source (for example: Bank, etc.). It will make the assessment more realistic if loan amounts and conditions is considered in the TEA.

The construction period has been considered one year that can be last more for larger plants. In addition, feed prices vary depending on a number of variables, including the location of the biomethane plant and the cost of transportation. When maximizing the process and scaling it up, certain parameters should be taken into account.

Furthermore, certain nations' tipping fees, renewable fuel subsidies, and renewable tax credits were not taken into consideration. In any case, the findings of this study provided the framework for the application of technology in the future.

Moreover, effective parameters on MSP of methane were considered. Other factors with minor effect can be significant in other projects that makes them more valuable to be investigated in sensitivity analysis such as working capital and catalyst cost [104].

In future studies, LCA analysis of such scenarios can be valuable from environmental point of view and will add value to the assessment.

The efficiency of a biogas plant can be evaluated not only by energy efficiency, but also by conversion efficiency and overall process efficiency. So, these two recent kind of efficiency can be evaluated for better comparison

0.

- [1] A.L. Leal, M.A. Soria and, L.M. Madeira, "Autothermal reforming of impure glycerol for H₂ production: Thermodynamic study including in situ CO₂ and/or H₂ separation" International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, vol. 41, Issue 45, 7 December 2016, Pages 2607-2620, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2015.11.132</u>
- [2] J.A. Okolie, A. Mukherjee, S. Nanda, A.K. Dalai, J.A. Kozinski, "Next-generation biofuels and platform biochemicals from lignocellulosic biomass" International Journal of Energy Reviews, vvol. 45, August 2021, Pages 14145-14169, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/er.6697</u>
- [3] A. Almeida, R. Pilão, A. Ribeiro, E. Ramalho, C. Pinho, "Gasification of crude glycerol after salt removal" International Journal of Energy Fuels, vol. 33, August 2019, Pages 9942-9948, DOI: <u>https://pubs.acs.org/doi10.1021/acs.energyfuels.9b02390</u>
- [4] H. Zabed, G. Faruq, J.N. Sahu, M.S. Azirun, R. Hashim, A. Nasrulhaq Boyce, "Bioethanol production from fermentable sugar juice" International Journal of The Scientific World Journal, <u>vol.</u> 2014, August 2014, Pages 1-11, DOI: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2014/957102</u>
- [5] M.N.B. Mohiddin, Y.H. Tan, Y.X. Seow, J. Kansedo, N.M. Mubarak, M.O. Abdullah," Evaluation on feedstock, technologies, catalyst and reactor for sustainable biodiesel production: a review" Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry, vol. 98, 25 June 2021, Pages 60-81 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiec.2021.03.036</u>
- [6] A.S. Badday, A.Z. Abdullah, K.T. Lee, M.S. Khayoon, "Intensification of biodiesel production via ultrasonic-assisted process: a critical review on fundamentals and recent development" International Journal of Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, vol. 16, Issue 7, September 2012, Pages 4574-4587 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2012.04.057
- [7] K.F. Adekunle, J.A. Okolie, "A review of biochemical process of anaerobic digestion" International Journal of Advances in Bioscience and Biotechnology, vol. 6, March 2016, Pages 205-212 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/abb.2015.63020</u>
- [8] A.J. Welch, I.A. Digdaya, R. Kent, P. Ghougassian, H.A. Atwater, C. Xiang, "Comparative technoeconomic analysis of renewable generation of methane using sunlight, water, and carbon dioxide", International Journal of Energy Conversion and Management, American Society Chemical Energy Letter, vol. 6, April 2021, Pages 1540-1549 DOI: <u>https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acsenergylett.1c00174</u>
- [9] J.A. Okolie, S. Nanda, A.K. Dalai, J.A. Kozinski, "Techno-economic evaluation and sensitivity analysis of a conceptual design for supercritical water gasification of soybean straw to produce hydrogen" International Journal of Bioresource Technology, vol. 331, July 2021, Pages 34-49 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2021.125005</u>
- [10] N. Gallandat, K. Romanowicz, A. Züttel, "An analytical model for the electrolyser performance derived from materials parameters" Journal of Power and Energy Engineering, vol. 5, October 2017, 125005 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/jpee.2017.510003</u>

- [11] P. McKendry, "Energy production from biomass (part 1): overview of biomass" Bioresource Technology vol. 83, Issue 1, May 2002, Pages 37-46 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-8524(01)00118-3</u>
- [12] A. A. Ahmad, N. A. Zawawi, F. H. Kasim, A. Inayat, A. Khasri, "Assessing the gasification performance of biomass: A review on biomass gasification process conditions, optimization and economic evaluation" Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, vol. 53, January 2016, Pages 1333-1347 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.09.030
- [13] A. Paula, G. Peres, B.H. Lunelli, R.M. Fllho "Application of biomass to hydrogen and syngas production" Italian Association of Chemical Engineering, vol. 32, June 2013, Pages 589-594 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3303/CET1332099</u>
- [14] S. Li, S. Xu, S. Liu, C. Yang, Q. Lu "Fast pyrolysis of biomass in free-fall reactor for hydrogen-rich gas" Fuel Processing Technology, vol. 85, Issues 8–10, July 2004, Pages 1201-1211 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuproc.2003.11.043</u>
- [15] M.A.A. Mohammed, A. Salmiaton, W.A.K.G. Wan Azlina, M.S. Mohammad Amran, A. Fakhru'l-Razi "Air gasification of empty fruit bunch for hydrogen-rich gas production in a fluidized-bed reactor" Energy Conversion and Management, vol. 52, Issue 2, February 2011, Pages 1555-1561 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2010.10.023</u>
- [16] United States Biomass Energy Resource Centre, Vermont (2007) DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.09.030</u>
- [17] A. Demirbaş "Biomass resource facilities and biomass conversion processing for fuels and chemicals" Energy Conversion and Management, vol. 42, Issue 11, July 2001, Pages 1357-1378 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0196-8904(00)00137-0</u>
- [18] R. K. Chhetri, N. Aryal, S. Kharel, R. C. Poude, D Pant "Agro-based industrial wastes as potent sources of alternative energy and organic fertilizers" Sustainable Bioresources for the Emerging Bioeconomy, vol. 2020, Pages 121-136 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-64309-4.00005-2</u>
- [19] R.A. Jansen "Second generation biofuels and biomass: essential guide for investors, scientists and decision makers" John Wiley & Sons, vol. 12, March 2013, Pages 609-611 DOI: <u>http://omicron.ch.tuiasi.ro/EEMJ/</u>
- [20] P. Lv, Z. Yuan, C. Wu, L. Ma, Y. Chen, N. Tsubaki "Bio-syngas production from biomass catalytic gasification" Energy Conversion and Management, vol. 48, Issue 4, April 2007, Pages 1132-1139 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2006.10.014</u>
- [21] J. Rostrup-Nielsen, L.J. Christiansen "Concepts in syngas manufacture" Imperial College Press, vol. 10, June 2011, Pages 141-152 DOI: <u>https://ebookcentral-proquestcom.ezproxy1.usn.no/lib/ucsn-ebooks/detail.action?docID=840548</u>.
- [22] M. Asadullah, S. Ito, K. Kunimori, M. Yamada, K. Tomishige "Biomass gasification to hydrogen and syngas at low temperature: novel catalytic system using fluidized-bed reactor" Journal of Catalysis, vol. 208, Issue 2, 10 June 2002, Pages 255-259 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1006/jcat.2002.3575
- [23] A. Tilay, R. Azargohar, R. Gerspacher, A. Dalai, J. Kozinski "Gasification of canola meal and factors affecting gasification process" BioEnergy Research, vol. 7, March 2014, Pages 1131–1143 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12155-014-9437-5</u>

- [24] U.S. Department of Energy National Energy Technology Laboratory. Current worldwide synthesis gas production. Retrieved from <u>http://www.netl.doe.gov/research/coal/energy-systems/gasification/gasification-plant-databases/current-world</u>
- [25] J. P. Ciferno, J. J. Marano, Benchmarking biomass gasification technologies for fuels, chemicals and hydrogen production. U.S. Department of Energy National Energy Technology Laboratory (Washington, DC); 2002. DOI: <u>https://www.netl.doe.gov/sites/default/files/netl-file/BMassGasFinal.pdf</u>
- [26] O. Nooruddin Simulation and optimization of IGCC technique for power generation and hydrogen production by using lignite Thar coal and cotton stalk (Master's thesis) Lappeenranta University of Technology, Faculty of Technology, Finland (2011)
- [27] S. Luo, B. Xiao, X. Guo, Z. Hu, S. Liu, M. He "Hydrogen-rich gas from catalytic steam gasification of biomass in a fixed bed reactor: influence of particle size on gasification performance" International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, vol. 34, Issue 3, February 2009, Pages 1260-1264 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2008.10.088</u>
- [28] K. Srirangan, L. Akawi, M. Moo-Young, C.P. Chou "Towards sustainable production of clean energy carriers from biomass resources" Applied Energy, vol. 100, December 2012, Pages 172-186 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2012.05.012</u>
- [29] T. Wongsiriamnuay, N. Kannang, N. Tippayawong "Effect of operating conditions on catalytic gasification of bamboo in a fluidized bed" International Journal of Chemical Engineering, vol. 2013, June 2013, Pages DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/297941</u>
- [30] A. Gómez-Barea, B. Leckner "Modeling of biomass gasification in fluidized bed" Progress in Energy and Combustion Science, vol. 36, Issue 4, August 2010, Pages 444-509 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pecs.2009.12.002</u>
- [31] C. Pfeifer, S. Koppatz, H. Hofbauer "Steam gasification of various feedstocks at a dual fluidised bed gasifier: impacts of operation conditions and bed materials" Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery, vol. 1, Issue 1, March 2011, Pages 39-53 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13399-011-0007-1</u>
- [32] A.A. Erakhrumen "Biomass gasification: documented information for adoption/adaptation and further improvements toward sustainable utilisation of renewable natural resources" Renewable Energy, vol. 2012, Pages 1-8 DOI: <u>https://doi:10.5402/2012/536417</u>
- [33] R. Warnecke "Gasification of Biomass: Comparison of Fixed Bed and Fluidized Bed Gasifier." Biomass and Bioenergy, vol. 18, no. 6, Elsevier BV, June 2000, Pages 489–97. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0961-9534(00)00009-x</u>
- [34] Z.A.B.Z. Alauddin, P. Lahijani, M. Mohammadi, A.R. Mohamed "Gasification of lignocellulosic biomass in fluidized beds for renewable energy development: A review" Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, vol. 14, Issue 9, December 2010, Pages 2852-2862 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2010.07.026</u>
- [35] N.B.K. Rasmussen, N. Aryal, "Syngas production using straw pellet gasification in fluidized bed allothermal reactor under different temperature conditions" Fuel, vol. 263, March 2020, Pages 116706 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2019.116706</u>
- [36] L. Yassin, P. Lettieri, S.J.R. Simons, A. Germanà "Techno-economic performance of energy-from-waste fluidized bed combustion and gasification processes in the UK

context"Chemical Engineering Journal, vol. 146, Issue 3, 15 February 2009, Pages 315-327 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2008.06.014</u>

- [37] S. Rapagnà, A. Latif "Steam gasification of almond shells in a fluidised bed reactor: the influence of temperature and particle size on product yield and distribution" Biomass and Bioenergy, vol. 12, Issue 4, November 1996, Pages 281-288 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0961-9534(96)00079-7</u>
- [38] P.M. Lv, Z.H. Xiong, J. Chang, C.Z. Wu, Y. Chen, J.X. Zhu "An experimental study on biomass air-steam gasification in a fluidized bed" Bioresource Technology, vol. 95, Issue 1, October 2004, Pages 95-101 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2004.02.003</u>
- [39] J. Li, Y. Yin, X. Zhang, J. Liu, R. Yan "Hydrogen-rich gas production by steam gasification of palm oil wastes over supported tri-metallic catalyst" International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, vol. 34, Issue 22, November 2009, Pages 9108-9115 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2009.09.030</u>
- [40] V. Skoulou, A. Swiderski, W. Yang, A. Zabaniotou "Process characteristics and products of olive kernel high temperature steam gasification (HTSG)" Bioresource Technology, vol. 100, Issue 8, April 2009, Pages 2444-2451 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2008.11.021</u>
- [41] P. Lü, X. Kong, C. Wu, Z. Yuan, L. Ma, J. Chang "Modeling and simulation of biomass air-steam gasification in a fluidized bed" Frontiers of Chemical Engineering in China, vol. 2, June 2008, Pages 209–213 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11705-008-0039-7</u>
- [42] F. Yan, L. Zhang, Z. Hu, G. Cheng, C. Jiang, Y. Zhang, et al. "Hydrogen-rich gas production by steam gasification of char derived from cyanobacterial blooms (CDCB) in a fixed-bed reactor: influence of particle size and residence time on gas yield and syngas composition" International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, vol. 35, Issue 19, October 2010, Pages 10212-10217 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2010.07.113</u>
- [43] P. Lv, Z. Yuan, L. Ma, C. Wu, Y. Chen, J. Zhu "Hydrogen-rich gas production from biomass air and oxygen/steam gasification in a downdraft gasifier" Renewable Energy, vol. 32, Issue 13, October 2007, Pages 2173-2185 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2006.11.010</u>
- [44] A.C.C. Chang, H.-F. Chang, F.-J. Lin, K.-H. Lin, C.-H. Chen "Biomass gasification for hydrogen production" International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, Vol. 36, Issue 21, October 2011, Pages 14252-14260 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2011.05.105</u>
- [45] A. Inayat, M.M. Ahmad, M.I.A. Mutalib, S. Yusup "Biomass steam gasification with insitu CO2 capture for enriched hydrogen gas production: a reaction kinetics modelling approach" Energy-sustainable Development, vol. 3, Issue 8, August 2010, Pages 1472-1484 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/en3081472</u>
- [46] V. Skoulou, A. Zabaniotou, G. Stavropoulos, G. Sakelaropoulos "Syngas production from olive tree cuttings and olive kernels in a downdraft fixed-bed gasifier" International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, vol. 33, Issue 4, February 2008, Pages 1185-1194 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2007.12.051</u>
- [47] S. H. Lee, R. T. L. Ng, D. K. S. Ng, D. C. Y. Foo, I. M. L. Chew "Optimization of a Gasification-Based Integrated Biorefinery for Pulp and Paper Industry" Proceedings

from the 6th international conference on process systems engineering (PSE ASIA), Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, June 2013.

- [48] M.R. Mahishi, D.Y. Goswami "An experimental study of hydrogen production by gasification of biomass in the presence of a CO2 sorbent" International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, vol. 32, Issue 14, September 2007, Pages 2803-2808 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2007.03.030</u>
- [49] T. Hanaoka, T. Yoshida, S. Fujimoto, K. Kamei, M. Harada, Y. Suzuki, et al. "Hydrogen production from woody biomass by steam gasification using a CO2 sorbent" Biomass and Bioenergy, vol. 28, Issue 1, January 2005, Pages 63-68 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2004.03.009
- [50] P. Chaiprasert, T. Vitidsant "Effects of promoters on biomass gasification using nickel/dolomite catalyst" Korean Journal of Chemical Engineering, vol. 26, February 2010, Pages 1545–1549 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11814-009-0259-7</u>
- [51]L. Shen, Y. Gao, J. Xiao "Simulation of hydrogen production from biomass gasification in interconnected fluidized beds" Biomass and Bioenergy, vol. 32, Issue 2, February 2008, Pages 120-127 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2007.08.002</u>
- [52] C. Wu, Z. Wang, L. Wang, J. Huang, P.T. Williams "Catalytic Steam Gasification of Biomass for a Sustainable Hydrogen Future: Influence of Catalyst Composition" Waste and Biomass Valorization, vol. 5, May 2013, Pages 175–180 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-013-9244-9</u>
- [53] T. Valliyappan, D. Ferdous, N.N. Bakhshi, A.K. Dalai "Production of hydrogen and syngas via steam gasification of glycerol in a fixed-bed reactor" Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, vol. 49, Issue 1-2, July 2008, Pages 59-67 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11244-008-9062-7
- [54] N. Aryal and T. Kvist, "Alternative of Biogas Injection into the Danish Gas Grid System—A Study from Demand Perspective," ChemEngineering, vol. 2, no. 3, Sep. 2018, Pages 43 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/chemengineering2030043</u>
- [55] N. Aryal, N. Ghimire, S. Bajracharya, "Coupling of microbial electrosynthesis with anaerobic digestion for waste valorization," Advances in Bioenergy, Yebo Li, Samir Kumar Khanal, Elsevier, 2020, Pages 101-127, [Online]. Available: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aibe.2020.04.003</u>
- [56] N. Aryal, M. Odde, C. B. Petersen, L. D. M. Ottosen, M. V. W. Kofoed "Methane production from syngas using a trickle-bed reactor setup," Bioresource Technology, vol. 333, August 2021, Pages 125183, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2021.125183</u>
- [57] N. Aryal, L. M. Ottosen, M. W. Kofoed, D. Pant. Emerging Technologies and Biological Systems for Biogas Upgrading. Academic Press: Elsevier Inc. press, 2021. [Online]. Available: <u>https://books.google.no/books?id=8RILEAAAQBAJ&lpg=PP1&dq=nabin%20aryal%20</u> <u>biogas%20upgrading%20&lr&pg=PR3#v=twopage&q&f=false</u>
- [58] J. Zhang et al. "Integrating food waste sorting system with anaerobic digestion and gasification for hydrogen and methane co-production" Applied Energy, vol. 257, January 2020, Pages 113988, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2019.113988</u>

- [59] M. Pecchi, M. Baratieri "Coupling anaerobic digestion with gasification, pyrolysis or hydrothermal carbonization: A review" Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, vol. 105, May 2019, Pages 462-475 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.02.003</u>
- [60] K. Hjuler, N. Aryal, "Review of Biogas Upgrading Future Gas project, WP1" FutureGas, Dept. of Applied Mathematics, Danmark, report no. 742-55,, 2017. Accessed: Sep. 20, 2017. [Online]. Available: <u>https://arkiv.dgc.dk/sites/default/files/filer/publikationer/R1704_FutureGas_Biogas_Upg_rading.pdf</u>
- [61] N. X. Wang, X. Y. Lu, Y. F. Tsang, Y. Mao, C. W. Tsang, and V. A. Yueng, "A comprehensive review of anaerobic digestion of organic solid wastes in relation to microbial community and enhancement process," Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, vol. 99, Issue 2, Oct. 2018, Pages 507–516, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.9315</u>
- [62] T. Zhang, Y. Yang, and A. Pruden, "Effect of temperature on removal of antibiotic resistance genes by anaerobic digestion of activated sludge revealed by meta genomic approach," Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, vol. 99, Issue 18, Pages 7771– 7779, May 2015, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-015-6688-9</u>
- [63] W. Sun, X. Qian, J. Gu, X. J. Wang, and M.-L. Duan, "Mechanism and Effect of Temperature on Variations in Antibiotic Resistance Genes during Anaerobic Digestion of Dairy Manure," Scientific Reports, vol. 6, Issue 1, Jul. 2016, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep30237</u>
- [64] X. Xiao et al., "Influence of Particle Size and Alkaline Pretreatment on the Anaerobic Digestion of Corn Stover," BioResources, vol. 8, Issue 4, September 2013, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.15376/biores.8.4.5850-5860</u>
- [65] C. Mao, Y. Feng, X. Wang, and G. Ren, "Review on research achievements of biogas from anaerobic digestion," Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, vol. 45, Pages 540–555, May 2015, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.02.032A</u>
- [66] A. I. Best et al., "Shallow seabed methane gas could pose coastal hazard," EOS, Transactions American Geophysical Union, vol. 87, no. 22, May 2006, Pages 213-220, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2006eo220001</u>
- [67] A. Walter, M. Probst, S. Hinterberger, H. Müller, and H. Insam, "Biotic and abiotic dynamics of a high solid-state anaerobic digestion box-type container system," Waste Management, vol. 49, March 2016, Pages 26–35, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2016.01.039A
- [68] X. S. Shi et al., "Modeling of the methane production and pH value during the anaerobic co-digestion of dairy manure and spent mushroom substrate," Chemical Engineering Journal, vol. 244, June 2013, Pages 258–263, May 2014, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2014.02.007</u>
- [69] G. Yang, P. Zhang, G. Zhang, Y. Wang, and A. Yang, "Degradation properties of protein and carbohydrate during sludge anaerobic digestion," Bioresource Technology, vol. 192, Sep. 2015, Pages 126–130, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2015.05.076</u>
- [70] J. Lindner, S. Zielonka, H. Oechsner, and A. Lemmer, "Effect of different pH-values on process parameters in two-phase anaerobic digestion of high-solid substrates,"

Environmental Technology, vol. 36, no. 2, Aug. 2014, Pages 198–207, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2014.941944A

- [71] M. A. Dareioti, A. I. Vavouraki, and M. Kornaros, "Effect of pH on the anaerobic acidogenesis of agroindustrial wastewaters for maximization of bio-hydrogen production: A lab-scale evaluation using batch tests," Bioresource Technology, vol. 162, Jun. 2014, Pages 218–227, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.03</u>
- [72] Y. Li, S. Y. Park, and J. Zhu, "Solid-state anaerobic digestion for methane production from organic waste," Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, vol. 15, no. 1, Jan. 2011, Pages 821–826, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2010.07</u>
- [73] D. I. Massé, D. Lu, L. Masse, and R. L. Droste, "Effect of antibiotics on psychrophilic anaerobic digestion of swine manure slurry in sequencing batch reactors," Bioresource Technology, vol. 75, no. 3, Dec. 2000, Pages 205–211, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0960-8524(00)00046-8</u>
- [74] C. Lee, J. Kim, S. G. Shin, V. O'Flaherty, and S. Hwang, "Quantitative and qualitative transitions of methanogen community structure during the batch anaerobic digestion of cheese-processing wastewater," Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, vol. 87, no. 5, May 2010, Pages 1963–1973, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-010-2685-1</u>
- [75] I. Bassani, P. G. Kougias, L. Treu, and I. Angelidaki, "Biogas Upgrading via Hydrogenotrophic Methanogenesis in Two-Stage Continuous Stirred Tank Reactors at Mesophilic and Thermophilic Conditions," Environmental Science & Technology, vol. 49, no. 20, Oct. 2015, Pages 12585–12593, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b03451</u>
- [76] S. F. Fu, F. Wang, X. S. Shi, and R. B. Guo, "Impacts of microaeration on the anaerobic digestion of corn straw and the microbial community structure," Chemical Engineering Journal, vol. 287, Mar. 2016, Pages 523–528, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2015.11.070A
- [77] Z. Yan, Z. Song, D. Li, Y. Yuan, X. Liu, and T. Zheng, "The effects of initial substrate concentration, C/N ratio, and temperature on solid-state anaerobic digestion from composting rice straw," Bioresource Technology, vol. 177, Pages 266–273, Feb. 2015, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.11.089</u>
- [78] X. Wang, X. Lu, F. Li, and G. Yang, "Effects of Temperature and Carbon-Nitrogen (C/N) Ratio on the Performance of Anaerobic Co-Digestion of Dairy Manure, Chicken Manure and Rice Straw: Focusing on Ammonia Inhibition," PLoS ONE, vol. 9, no. 5, Pages e97265, May 2014, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0097265</u>
- [79] G. Silvestre, B. Fernández, and A. Bonmatí, "Addition of crude glycerine as strategy to balance the C/N ratio on sewage sludge thermophilic and mesophilic anaerobic codigestion," Bioresource Technology, vol. 193, Pages 377–385, Oct. 2015, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2015.06.098</u>
- [80] X. Huang, S. Yun, J. Zhu, T. Du, C. Zhang, and X. Li, "Mesophilic anaerobic codigestion of aloe peel waste with dairy manure in the batch digester: Focusing on mixing ratios and digestate stability," Bioresource Technology, vol. 218, Pages 62–68, Oct. 2016, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.06.070</u>
- [81] Flores-Alsina et al., "Modelling phosphorus (P), sulfur (S) and iron (Fe) interactions for dynamic simulations of anaerobic digestion processes," Water Research, vol. 95, Pages 370–382, May 2016, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.03.012</u>

- [82] M. A. Dareioti and M. Kornaros, "Anaerobic mesophilic co-digestion of ensiled sorghum, cheese whey and liquid cow manure in a two-stage CSTR system: Effect of hydraulic retention time," Bioresource Technology, vol. 175, Pages 553–562, Jan. 2015, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.10.102</u>
- [83] M. A. Dareioti and M. Kornaros, "Effect of hydraulic retention time (HRT) on the anaerobic co-digestion of agro-industrial wastes in a two-stage CSTR system," Bioresource Technology, vol. 167, Pages 407–415, Sep. 2014, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.06.045</u>
- [84] L. Wei et al., "Effect of hydraulic retention time on deterioration/restarting of sludge anaerobic digestion: Extracellular polymeric substances and microbial response," Bioresource Technology, vol. 244, Pages 261–269, Nov. 2017, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.07.110</u>
- [85] Z. Zuo, S. Wu, X. Qi, and R. Dong, "Performance enhancement of leaf vegetable waste in two-stage anaerobic systems under high organic loading rate: Role of recirculation and hydraulic retention time," Applied Energy, vol. 147, Pages 279–286, Jun. 2015, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2015.03.001
- [86] G. Baek, J. Kim, S. G. Shin, and C. Lee, "Bioaugmentation of anaerobic sludge digestion with iron-reducing bacteria: process and microbial responses to variations in hydraulic retention time," Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, vol. 100, no. 2, Pages 927– 937, Oct. 2015, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-015-7018-y</u>
- [87] M. Kamali, T. Gameiro, M. E. V. Costa, and I. Capela, "Anaerobic digestion of pulp and paper mill wastes – An overview of the developments and improvement opportunities," Chemical Engineering Journal, vol. 298, Pages 162–182, Aug. 2016, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2016.03.119</u>
- [88] G. Bitton, Wastewater Microbiology. Wiley-Blackwell, 2010
- [89] J. L. Chen, R. Ortiz, T. W. J. Steele, and D. C. Stuckey, "Toxicants inhibiting anaerobic digestion: A review," Biotechnology Advances, vol. 32, no. 8, Pages 1523–1534, Dec. 2014, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2014.10.005</u>
- [90] R. Roy, L. Haak, L. Li, and K. Pagilla, "Anaerobic digestion for solids reduction and detoxification of refinery waste streams," Process Biochemistry, vol. 51, no. 10, Pages 1552–1560, Oct. 2016, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2016.08.006</u>
- [91] P. M. Thanh, B. Ketheesan, Z. Yan, and D. Stuckey, "Trace metal speciation and bioavailability in anaerobic digestion: A review," Biotechnology Advances, vol. 34, no. 2, Pages 122–136, Mar. 2016, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2015.12.006</u>
- [92] A. Mulchandani and P. Westerhoff, "Recovery opportunities for metals and energy from sewage sludges," Bioresource Technology, vol. 215, Pages 215–226, Sep. 2016, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016</u>
- [93] W. Zhang, L. Zhang, and A. Li, "Enhanced anaerobic digestion of food waste by trace metal elements supplementation and reduced metals dosage by green chelating agent [S, S]-EDDS via improving metals bioavailability," Water Research, vol. 84, Pages 266– 277, Nov. 2015, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2015.07.010</u>
- [94] C. Knoop, C. Dornack, and T. Raab, "Nutrient and heavy metal accumulation in municipal organic waste from separate collection during anaerobic digestion in a two-

stage laboratory biogas plant," Bioresource Technology, vol. 239, Pages 437–446, Sep. 2017, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.05.026</u>

- [95] J. Lee, J. R. Kim, S. Jeong, J. Cho, and J. Y. Kim, "Long-term performance of anaerobic digestion for crop residues containing heavy metals and response of microbial communities," Waste Management, vol. 59, Pages 498–507, Jan. 2017, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2016.10.005</u>
- [96] Q. Zhang, L. Zhang, W. Sang, M. Li, and W. Cheng, "Chemical speciation of heavy metals in excess sludge treatment by thermal hydrolysis and anaerobic digestion process," Desalination and Water Treatment, vol. 57, no. 27, Pages 12770–12776, Jul. 2015, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19443994.2015.1055518</u>
- [97] F. Suanon, Q. Sun, D. Mama, J. Li, B. Dimon, and C.-P. Yu, "Effect of nanoscale zerovalent iron and magnetite (Fe3O4) on the fate of metals during anaerobic digestion of sludge," Water Research, vol. 88, Pages 897–903, Jan. 2016, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2015.11.014</u>
- [98] M.S. Eikeland, R.K. Thapa, B.M. Halvorsen, "Aspen plus simulation of biomass gasification with known reaction kinetic" Linköping Electronic Conference Proceedings (119), Pages 149-155, October 2015 DOI: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3384/ecp15119149</u>
- [99] K. Sun, "Optimization of biomass gasification reactor using Aspen Plus," Master Thesis, Faculty of technology, University of south-Eastern Norway, Porsgrunn, 2023.
- [100] G. J. G. Ortiz. "Techno-economic assessment of supercritical processes for biofuel production" The Journal of Supercritical Fluids, vol. 160, June 2020, Pages 104788 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.supflu.2020.104788
- [101] J. A. Okolie et al., "A techno-economic assessment of biomethane and bioethanol production from crude glycerol through integrated hydrothermal gasification, syngas fermentation and biomethanation" Energy Conversion and Management, vol. 12, December 2021, Pages 100131 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecmx.2021.100131</u>
- [102] T.R. Brown, Capital cost estimating, International ed. Hydrocarbon processing, USA: University of cincinaty Press, 2000.
- [103] I.J. Okeke, S. Mani "Techno-economic assessment of biogas to liquid fuels conversion technology via Fischer-Tropsch synthesis" Biofuels Bioproducts Biofining, vol.11, Issue 3, February 2017, Pages 472-487 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bbb.1758</u>
- [104] J. A. Okolie, S. Nanda, A. K. Dalai, J. A. Kozinski, "Techno-economic evaluation and sensitivity analysis of a conceptual design for supercritical water gasification of soybean straw to produce hydrogen" Bioresource Technology, vol. 331, July 2021, Pages 125005 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2021.125005</u>
- [105] R. Turton, R.C. Bailie, W.B. Whiting, J.A. Shaeiwitz. Analysis, synthesis, and design of chemical processes. Prentice Hall press, 2008. [Online]. Available: <u>https://books.google.com</u>
- [106] S. Michailos, O. Emenike, D. Ingham, K.J. Hughes, M. Pourkashanian "Methane production via syngas fermentation within the bio-CCS concept: a techno-economic assessment" Biochemical Engineering Journal, vol. 150, October 2019, Pages 107290 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2019.107290</u>

- [107] L.W. Dianningrum "Hydrothermal gasification of pure and crude glycerol in supercritical water: a comparative study" International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, vol. 39, Issue 3, January 2014, Pages 1262-1273 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2013.10.139</u>
- [108] S. Michailos, M. Walker, A. Moody, D. Poggio, M. Pourkashanian "Biomethane production using an integrated anaerobic digestion, gasification and CO2 biomethanation process in a real waste water treatment plant: a techno-economic assessment" Energy Conversion and Management, vol. 29, April 2020, Pages 112663 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2020.112663</u>
- [109] S. Galera, F.J. G. Ortiz "Techno-economic assessment of hydrogen and power production from supercritical water reforming of glycerol" Fuel, vol. 144, March 2015, Pages 307-316 DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2014.12.033</u>

Appendixes

Appendix A Signed Task Description



Faculty of Technology, Natural Sciences and Maritime Sciences, Campus Porsgrunn

FMH606 Master's Thesis

<u>Title</u>: Techno-economic assessment of biomethane production from syngas derived from biomass gasifier

USN supervisors: Nabin Aryal (main supervisor) and Lars Erik Øi (co-supervisor)

External partner: None

Task background:

Biomethane is a flexible renewable source that can be applied to substitute fossil-based natural gas. Due to the current geopolitical situation, biomethane has recently been proposed as an alternative gas source for Europe. As a result, the number of biogas plant installations in Europe has been increasing for the utilization of waste to produce methane. However, complete anaerobic degradation of organic waste is not possible due to the presence of lignocellulose biomass. Therefore, high lignocellulose-containing material, particularly undigested fibrous material from AD, forest and agriculture biomass, can be utilized in thermal degradation to generate the intermediate gas composition called syngas. The syngas often contains carbon dioxide, carbon monoxide and hydrogen. These gaseous compounds could further utilize to produce natural gas-quality biomethane (>97% methane) in anaerobic digestion.

The two-stage (gasification-AD) process for biomethane has recently received extensive attention and has been researched comprehensively. However, the cost of biomethane production has always been questioned while upscaling the technology. Therefore, this Master thesis will perform the techno-economic evaluation of a two-stage process for biomethane production. In this proposed master's thesis, the student will develop a model based on the available data from the literature for economic assessment. The production cost estimation per cubic meter of methane will be expected using a biomass gasifier coupled with anaerobic digestion.

Task description:

The primary aim of this project work is: -

- 1. To perform the techno-economic evaluation of a two-stage (gasification-AD) biomethane production process
- 2. To propose the economic methane production rate scenario for upscaling the technology

The following experimental design will be adopted to achieve the proposed objectives: The literature review will be done based on the published result from biomass and gasification coupled processes. The thesis should define the i) Designing of a process framework for biomethane production ii) Establishing the mass and energy balances based on the designed framework, iii) total cost estimation based on the capital expenditure (CAPEX) and operating expense (OPEX) and iv) Sensitivity analysis. The student is supposed to estimate the scenario of a profitable biomethane production rate based on the current lab-scale production rate.

Student category: EET or PT

Is the task suitable for online students (not present at the campus)? Yes

Practical arrangements:

The available simulation tool and model will be provided that is available at USN, Porsgrunn campus.

Supervision:

As a general rule, the student is entitled to 15-20 hours of supervision. This includes the necessary time for the supervisor to prepare for supervision meetings (reading material to be discussed, etc.).

Signatures:

Supervisor (date and signature): nabin aryal	15.01.2023
Student (write clearly in all capitalized letters): MILA	D SAHRARO
Student (date and signature): Milad Sahrard	- 15.01.2023

Appendix B

Table 2.1 Temperature effect on gasification process

	Continued										
NO			Gas yi	eld range	Gas composition						
NO.	TG	H2	СО	CH4	CO2	Unit	H2	СО	CH4	CO2	Unit
1	0,5- 1,55	0,175- 0,7	0,125- 0,42	0,05- 0,12	0,125- 0,3	(m3/kg biomass)	na	na	na	na	na
2	62,68- 91,7	-	-	-	-	wt%	10,27- 38,2	21,87- 36,36	5,84- 14,72	10,0-65	vol %
3	1,43- 2,53	-	-	-	-	(Nm3/kg biomass)	21-39	35-43	6,0-10	18-20	vol %
4	1,79- 2,48	0,861- 1,481	-	-	-	(m3/kg)	48-60	15-25	5,0-5,0	20-25	vol %
5	1,9- 2,0	-	-	-	-	(Nm3/kg biomass)	6,6- 8,16	23,5- 30,6	4,0-5,0	59-63	vol %

Continued

			OC					
NO.	CCE (%)	LHV (MJ/m3)	BT1 (°C)	description 1	BT2 (°C)	description 2	RN	
1	na	na	800	Highest H2 and gas yield, and low char and tars	-		[37]	
2	na	7,5- 15,55	1000	Highest LHV and gas yield, and low char and tars	-		[15]	
3	78,17- 92,59	7,362- 8,56	900	Highest CCE and gas yield, and low char and tars	800	Highest LHV	[38]	
4	na	9,13- 11,26	900	Highest H2 and gas yield	750	Highest LHV	[39]	
5	63,6- 67,4	1,6-1,9	400	Highest H2	500	Highest LHV and CCE	[29]	

					System	configura	ation and op	peration	param	eters					
NO.	GT	H (mm)	ID (mm)	F	FR (kg/h)	FS (mm)	BM	GA	SB	ER		F	BT (°)	C)	
1	CFB	NA	60	almond shells	0,06	0,287- 1,09	fine Alumina	steam	0,8	na	600	650	700	750	800
2	FLB	NA	40	EFB (<10 wt% moisture content)	0,6	0,3-1	inert sand	air	na	0,15- 0,35	700	800	900	1000	-
3	FLB	1400	40	pine sawdust	0,445	0,3- 0,45	Silica sand	air- steam	2,7	0,22	700	750	800	850	900
4	FIB	1200	88	palm oil wastes	0,3-1	0,15-2	tri- metallic catalyst	steam	1,33	na	750	800	850	850	900
5	FLB	2000	50	bamboo	0,6	0,1- 0,25	Silica sand	air	na	0,4	400	500	600	_	-

Table 2.2 Main reactions on gasification process [12]

Reaction	Heat of reactiona	Reaction name	Reaction number
Heterogeneous reactions:			
C+0.5O2=CO	–111 MJ/kmol	Char partial combustion	R1
C+CO2⇔2CO	+172 MJ/kmol	Boudouard	R2
C+H2O↔CO+H2	+131 MJ/kmol	Water–gas	R3
C+2H2↔CH4	–75 MJ/kmol	Methanation	R4
Homogenous reactions:			
CO+0.5O2=CO2	–283 MJ/kmol	CO partial combustion	R5
H2+0.5O2=H2O	–242 MJ/kmol	H2 partial combustion	R6
CO + H2O↔CO2+H2	-41 MJ/kmol	CO shift	R7
CH4 + H2O↔CO+3H2	+206 MJ/kmol	Steam-methane reforming	R8
Hydrogen sulfide (H2S) and am	monia (NH3) forma	tion reactions:	
H2+S=H2S	nr	H2S formation	R9
0.5N2+1.5H2↔NH3	nr	NH3 formation	R10

				System conf	iguration	n and operation p	arameters				
NO.	GT	H (mm)	ID (mm)	F	FR (kg/h)	FS (mm)	BM	GA	SB	ER	BT (°C)
1	FLB	NA	40	EFB (<10 wt% moisture content)	0,6	<0,3 & 0,3- 0,5 & 0,5-1,0	inert sand	air	na	0,15- 0,34	850
2	FIB	1200	88	palm oil wastes	0,3-1	0,3-1	tri-metallic catalyst	steam	1,33	na	850
3	FLB	1400	40	pine sawdust	0,512	0,2-0,9	Silica sand	air- steam	1,56	na	800
4	FIB	600	219	pine sawdust	0,3	<0,075 & 0,075-1,2	calcined dolomite	steam	na	1,2	900
5	FIB	1000	50	CDCB	NA	<0,15 & 0,15- 3,0	NA	steam	na	na	850

Table 2.3 Effect of particle size on the gasification process

Continued

NO		Gas yield 1	range						
NO.	TG	H2	Unit	H2	СО	CH4	CO2	Unit	CCE (%)
1	72,74-74,79	na	wt%	21,57-33,93	35-42,5	15-17,5	7,5-30	na	na
2	2,16-2,41	1,183- 1,4	(m ³ /kg)	55-58	14-18	3,0-5,0	20-23	vol %	na
3	1,53-2,57	na	(Nm ³ /kg biomass)	30-32	16-20	6,0-7,0	16-20	vol %	77,62- 95,10
4	1,38-1,62	0,55- 0,8	(m3/kg biomass)	40-51,2	15-22,4	2,0-5,0	12,0-40	vol %	80-99,87
5	1,72-1,84	1,72- 1,84	(Nm ³ /kg biomass)	47-49	14-15	2	30-35	vol %	na

Continued
			Continued			
			OC			
NO.	LHV (MJ/m3)	FS1 (mm)	description 1	FS2 (mm)	description 2	RN
1	11,8-15,26	<0,3	Highest gas yield, and low char and heavy tars	0,3-0,5	Highest LHV	[15]
2	8,99-10,28	<0,15	Highest H ₂ and gas yield	2,0-5,0	Highest LHV	[39]
3	7,0-8,7	0,2-0,3	Highest CCE, LHV and gas yield	-	-	[38]
4	na	<0,075	Highest H ₂ , CCE and gas yield, and low char and tars	-	-	[27]
5	na	0,45- 0,9	Highest gas yield	-	-	[42]

Table 2.4 Effect of gas agent on the gasification process

				System config	guration an	d operatio	on paramete	rs	
NO.	GT H II (mm) (mr		ID (mm)	F	FR (kg/h)	FS (mm)	GA (FFA)	GA (FSA)	BT (°C)
1	FIB	350	60	pine sawdust	NA	NA	Air	Oxygen- Steam	-
2	FLB	NA	50	bamboo 0,6 0,1- 0,25 A		Air	Air-Steam	400,500,600	
3	BFB	NA	200	NA	NA	NA	Air	Pure steam	-
4	FIB	400	NA	palm oil wastes	0,3	0,15-2	Steam	na	800
5	FLB	1100	63,9	alfa cellullus	NA	<0,35	Air- Steam	na	800
6	FLB	NA	40	EFB	0,6	0,3-0,5	Air	na	850
7	FIB	TIB 500 12,5 Olive Kernel		NA	NA	Air	na	950	

Continued

					Continu	ed				
		G	as yield rai	nge			Ga	as compo	sition	
NO.	TG (FFA)	H2 (FFA)	TG (FSA)	H2 (FSA)	Unit	H2	СО	CH4	CO2	Unit
1	0,82- 0,94	0,24- 0,33	1,24- 1,62	0,36- 0,49	(Nm3/kg) (m3/kg)	21,57- 33,93	35-42,5	15- 17,5	7,5-30	na
2	1,9- 2,0	NA	1,4-2,4	NA	(Nm3/kg)	55-58	14-18	3,0- 5,0	20-23	vol %
3	1,4- 2,4	NA	0,8-1,1	NA	(Nm3/kg biomass)	30-32	16-20	6,0- 7,0	16-20	vol %
4	1,2- 2,48	0,558- 1,481	NA	NA	(m3/kg)	40- 51,2	15-22,4	2,0- 5,0	12,0-40	vol %
5	0,78- 1,02	NA	NA	NA	(m3/kg)					
6	70,75- 86,46	NA	NA	NA	wt%					
7	0,6- 0,8	NA	NA	NA	wt%	47-49	14-15	2	30-35	vol %

				Continued	
NO.	CCE (%) (FFA)	CCE (%) (FSA)	LHV (MJ/m3)	OC	RN
1	na	na	na	Oxygen steam	[43]
2	63,6-67,4	87,3-95,5	na	air steam ER:0,4 SB 1:1	[29]
3	na	na	na	Air	[12]
4	na	na	8,73-11,98	SB: 1,33 for maximum H2 SB:0 for (Highest LHV)	[39]
5	na	na	6,55-7,61	SB: 1 for maximum H2 SB:0 for (Highest LHV)	[44]
6	na	na	12,35-15,38	ER:0,35 biogas Max ER:0,25 H2 Max ER:0,15 LHV Max	[15]
7	na	na	8,8-10,4	ER:0,21 biogas Max H2 Max LHV Max	[40]

				Sy	stem cor	nfigurati	on and o	peratio	n parameters
NO.	GT	H (mm)	ID (mm)	F	FR (kg/h)	FS (mm)	GA	BT (° C)	BM
1	BTR	NA	-	pine bark	NA	NA	Steam	600	CaO reagent as CO2 Sorbent CaO/B:1
2	BTA	NA	-	Japanise oak	NA	NA	Steam	650	Ca(OH)2 powder as CO2 Sorbent
3	FIB	500	10,5	glycerol	NA	0,2- 0,35	Steam	800	Silicon Carbide and Ni/Al2O3catalyst
4	FLB	2000	50	Bamboo	0,6	0,1- 0,25	air	400- 600	Silica sand and calcined dolomiteas catalyst
5	FIB	1200	88	palm oil waste	0,3-1	0,15- 2	Steam	800	no catalyst, calcineddolomite,nano- NiLaFe/γ-Al2O3

Table 2.5 Bed material effect on the gasification process

Continued

	Gas yield						Gas composition							
NO.	TG (WBM)	H2 (WBM)	TG (WOB)	H2 (WOB)	Unit	H2(WBM)	CO(WBM)	CH4(WBM)	CO2(WBM)	H2(WOB)	CO(WOB)	CH4(WOB)	CO2(WOB)	Unit
1	1,42	-	0,87	-	(m3/kg)	64,5	5,9	2,8	26,8	60	9,1	3,2	27,7	vol %
2	NA	0,5- 0,8	NA	NA	(m3/kg)	na	na	na	na	na	na	na	na	vol %
3	0,91- 1,3	NA	NA	NA	(m3/kg)	55,4-68,3	20,2- 36,9	2,4- 5,9	1,9- 7,7	na	na	na	na	mol %
4	1,9- 2,1	NA	NA	NA	(Nm3/kg)	3,2-9,1	21,4- 31,7	na	na	na	na	na	na	mol %
5	1,21- 2,11	0,442- 1,131	NA	NA	(m3/kg)	36,5-53,6	12,7- 25,8	4,4- 10,2	20,9- 26,6	na	na	na	na	vol %

Continued

Continued

NO.	CCE (%) (WOB)	CCE (%) (WBM)	LHV (MJ/Nm)	OC	RN
1	30,3	55,6	na	Using CaO	[48]
2	na	na	na	[Ca]/[C]: 2 (highest H2 yield)	[49]
3	na	na	na	Catalyst loading: 0.8 wt% (highest H2 content and lowest char content)	[53]
4	59,5- 80,1	na	na	C/B: 1.5:1 (maximum H2 content, Highest LHV, and highest CCE)	[29]
5	na	na	10,2- 12,72	BM: newly developed tri-metallic catalyst (maximum gas yield, maximum H2 yield, and optimum gas composition) BM: calcined dolomite (highest LHV)	[39]

Table 2.6 Effects of different factors on anaerobic digestion

Environmental factors	Amounts	Target substrates	Performance	RN
Temperature	288 K	Rice	26-day digestion periods	[63]
	308 K	Pig manure	30-day digestion periods	[64]
	308 K	Wheat straws	20-day digestion periods	[64]
pН	4.5 - 5.5	Corn straws	Enhance acid production	[70]
	<4 or >6	Cotton stalks	No obvious effects	[71]
	<6 or >7.8	Left vegetables	Inhibit biogas production	[77]
	7	Pig manure	Greatly enhanced biogas production	[77]
Nitrogen	$0.00357 - 0.0357 \text{ mol } L^{-1}$	Left fish and vegetables	No obvious effects	[77]
	$7.14 imes 10^{-3} ext{ mol } ext{L}^{-1}$	Human manure	Slightly inhibited digestion	[79]
	$0.028 \text{ mol } \text{L}^{-1}$	Cow manure	Greatly inhibited digestion	[78]
OLR	$5-10 \text{ kgCOD m}^{-2}.\text{day}^{-1}$	Sugar cane stalks	No obvious effects	[83]
	13.63 – 19.27 kgCOD m ⁻² .day ⁻¹	Cotton stalks	Enhanced biogas production	[82]
	$> 30 \text{ kgCOD m}^{-2}.\text{day}^{-1}$	Cow manure	Inhibitory effects	[82]

_		Continued		
Environmental factors	Amounts	Target substrates	Performance	RN
LCFAs	$0.8 - 0.9 \text{ kg m}^{-3}$	Noodles and meats	Negative influences	[89]
	$>1 \text{ kg m}^{-3}$	Wheat straws	Greatly inhibited digestion	[88]
	$>1.5 \text{ kg m}^{-3}$	Human manure	AD system fails	[87]
Light metallic	$0.1 - 1 \text{ kg m}^{-3} \text{ IT}$	NA	NA	[93]
ions	$1-2 \text{ kg m}^{-3} \text{ IT}$	Left eggs and meats, rice	No obvious effects	[91]
	$>2.5 \text{ kg m}^{-3} \text{ IT}$	Pig manure	Inhibit acid and biogas formation	[92]
Heavy metallic	$0.0005 - 0.003 \text{ kg m}^{-3} \text{ IT}$	Chicken manure	Slightly enhanced biogas formation	[95]
ions	$0.004 - 0.1 \text{ kg m}^{-3} \text{ IT}$	Sugar cane stalks	Toxic to bacteria and methanogens	[92]
	$0.0156 \text{ kg m}^{-3} \text{ IT}$	Left noodles and rice	AD system fails	[95][88]

Appendix C

No.	Name	Price (million USD)	Ref Year	CEPCI	CEPCI 2023
1	Bioreactor for syngas	0.01	2016	541 7	
1	Termentation	0,91	2016	541,7	/65,8
2	Electrolysis unit	1,45	2017	567,5	765,8
3	Flash separators	0,11	2014	576,1	765,8
4	Heat exchangers	0,31	2014	576,1	765,8
5	Gasification reactor	0,59	2019	620,2	765,8
6	Pumps	0,12	2014	576,1	765,8

Table 3.6 Chemical Engineering Plant Cost Index for various years

Table 3.7 Data utilized for EPC calculation [101]

		Ref	Current		Scaling
No.	Name	Capacity	Capacity	Unit	factor
	Bioreactor for syngas				
1	fermentation	7695	0,495	Volume (m3)	0,6
				Installed capacity (MW of	
2	Electrolysis unit	1	0	electricity)	0,85
3	Flash separators	10	2	Length (m)	0,78
4	Heat exchangers	1000	100	Area (m2)	1
5	Gasification reactor	56	0,95	Feed input (tons/year)	0,72
6	Pumps	10	1	Power (kW)	0,36

Table 3.11 Discounted cash flow rate calculation sheet [100]

_											
	A	В	C	D	E	F	R	S	T	U	V
1	ITEM						YEAR				
2	TIEM	0	1	2	3	4	16	17	18	19	20
3	Invesment	=C18+B29	=D19+B30								=(B29+B30)
4	Operating cost			=\$B\$31	=\$B\$31	=\$B\$31	=\$B\$31	=\$B\$31	=\$B\$31	=\$B\$31	=\$B\$31
5	Revenue of sub-product			=\$B\$20	=\$B\$20	=\$B\$20	=\$B\$20	=\$B\$20	=\$B\$20	=\$B\$20	=\$B\$20
6	Revenue of main product			-\$B\$21*\$B\$22	-\$B\$21*\$B\$22	-\$B\$21*\$B\$22	-\$B\$21*\$B\$22	-\$B\$21*\$B\$22	-\$B\$21*\$B\$22	-\$B\$21*\$B\$22	-\$B\$21*\$B\$22
7	Depreciation	-	2	=\$B\$28	=\$B\$ 28	=\$B\$28	=\$B\$28				
8	Benefits before taxes	=B5+B6-B3-B4-B7	=C5+C6-C3-C4-C7	=D5+D6-D3-D4-D7	=E5+E6-E3-E4-E7	=F5+F6-F3-F4-F7	=R5+R6-R3-R4-R7	=85+86-83-84-87	=T5+T6-T3-T4-T7	=U5+U6-U3-U4-U7	=V5+V6-V3-V4-V7
9	Taxes over benefits	0	0	=D8*\$B\$24	=E8*\$B\$24	=F8*\$B\$24	=R8*\$B\$24	=S8*\$B\$24	=T8*\$B\$24	-U8*\$B\$24	=V8*\$B\$24
10	Benefits after taxes	=B8	=C8	=D8-D9	=E8-E9	=F8-F9	=R8-R9	=S8-S9	WT8-T9	=U8-U9	=V8-V9
11	Depreciation			=\$8\$28	=\$B\$28	=\$B\$28	=\$B\$28				
12	Free cash flow	=B10+B11	=C10+C11	=D10+D11	=E10+E11	=F10+F11	=R10+R11	=610+S11	-T10+T11	-U10+U11	=V10+V11
13	Cummulative cash flow	=B12	=C12+B13	=D12+C13	=E12+D13	=F12+E13	=R12+Q13	=S12+R13	=T12+S13	=U12+T13	=V12+U13
14	NPV	=B12/(1+\$B\$25)^B2	=C12/(1+\$B\$25)^C2	=D12/(1+\$B\$25)^D2	=E12/(1+\$B\$25)^E2	=F12/(1+\$B\$25)^F2	=R12/(1+\$B\$25)/R2	=\$12/(1+\$B\$25)^\$2	=T12/(1+\$B\$25)"T2	=U12/(1+\$B\$25)^U2	=V12/(1+\$B\$25)^V2
15	Cummulative NPV	=B14	=B15+C14	=C15+D14	=D15+E14	=E15+F14	=Q15+R14	=R15+S14	=S15+T14	=T15+U14	=U15+V14
16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 32 32	Tedal Investment cost (TIC) Furchase equationst Furchase equationst Main products of Milling the adoptoduct Main products of Milling the adoptoduct Main results of Milling the adoptoduct The relation of Milling the adoptoduct Tark of plant Depresentation time Depresentation Land Working capital Total opertug Cost Of Milling the Adoptoduct Total opertug cost Milling Milling the Adoptoduct Total opertug cost Milling Milling the Adoptoduct Milling the Adoptoduct Mil	DATA DATA DATA DATA =B33 =(B21*B20)+B20 DATA DATA DATA DATA DATA DATA	% YEAR 0 =C17*B18/100 OBJECTIVE 20 years in the case 1 Syears in the case a percentage of TIC (a a percentage of TIC (a	% YEAR 1 =D17*B18/100 baar 6%) baar 5%)	50% in this case in two	o years					SET NULL IN SOLVER